
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Monday, 6 June 2016 
11.00 am 
 
 
 
 
 

Smith Square 1&2, Ground Floor, Local 
Government House, Smith Square, London, 
SW1P 3HZ 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Guidance notes for visitors 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ 

 
Welcome! 

Please read these notes for your own safety and that of all visitors, staff and tenants. 

 

Security 

All visitors (who do not already have an LGA ID badge), are requested to report to the Reception 

desk where they will be asked to sign in and will be handed a visitor’s badge to be worn at all times 

whilst in the building. 

 

Fire instructions 

In the event of the fire alarm sounding, vacate the building immediately following the green Fire Exit 

signs. Go straight to the assembly point in Tufton Street via Dean Trench Street (off Smith Square). 

 

DO NOT USE THE LIFTS. 

DO NOT STOP TO COLLECT PERSONAL BELONGINGS. 

DO NOT RE-ENTER BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO. 

 

Open Council 

“Open Council”, on the 1st floor of LG House, provides informal  

meeting and business facilities with refreshments, for local authority members/ 

officers who are in London.  

 

Toilets  

Toilets for people with disabilities are situated on the Basement, Ground, 2nd, 4th, 6th and 7th floors. 

Female toilets are situated on the basement, ground, 1st, 3rd, 5th and 7th floors. Male toilets are 

available on the basement, ground, 2nd, 4th, 6th and 8th floors.   

 

Accessibility 

Every effort has been made to make the building as accessible as possible for people with 

disabilities. Induction loop systems have been installed in all the larger meeting rooms and at the 

main reception. There is a parking space for blue badge holders outside the Smith Square entrance 

and two more blue badge holders’ spaces in Dean Stanley Street to the side of the building. There is 

also a wheelchair lift at the main entrance. For further information please contact the Facilities 

Management Helpdesk on 020 7664 3015. 

 

Further help 

Please speak either to staff at the main reception on the ground floor, if you require any further help 

or information. You can find the LGA website at www.local.gov.uk 

 

Please don’t forget to sign out at reception and return your badge when you depart. 

 



 

 

 
Safer & Stronger Communities Board 
6 June 2016 

 

There will be a meeting of the Safer & Stronger Communities Board at 11.00 am on Monday, 6 
June 2016 Smith Square 1&2, Ground Floor, Local Government House, Smith Square, London, 
SW1P 3HZ. 
 

A sandwich lunch will be available at 1.00pm. 
 

Attendance Sheet: 
Please ensure that you sign the attendance register, which will be available in the meeting room.  It 
is the only record of your presence at the meeting. 
 

Political Group meetings: 
The group meetings will take place in advance of the meeting. Please contact your political group as 
outlined below for further details. 
 

Apologies: 
Please notify your political group office (see contact telephone numbers below) if you are unable to 
attend this meeting. 
 
Conservative: Group Office: 020 7664 3223 email: lgaconservatives@local.gov.uk   
Labour:  Group Office: 020 7664 3334 email: Labour.GroupLGA@local.gov.uk  
Independent:  Group Office: 020 7664 3224 email: independent.group@local.gov.uk   
Liberal Democrat: Group Office: 020 7664 3235 email: libdem@local.gov.uk 
 

Location:  
A map showing the location of Local Government House is printed on the back cover.   
 

LGA Contact:  
Ciaran Whitehead 
0207 664 3107 / ciaran.whitehead@local.gov.uk 
 

Guest WiFi in Local Government House  
WiFi is available in Local Government House for visitors. It can be accessed by enabling “Wireless 
Network Connection” on your computer and connecting to LGA-Free-WiFi. You will then need to 
register, either by completing a form or through your Facebook or Twitter account (if you have one). 
You only need to register the first time you log on.  
 

Carers’ Allowance  
As part of the LGA Members’ Allowances Scheme a Carer’s Allowance of up to £7.20 per hour is 
available to cover the cost of dependants (i.e. children, elderly people or people with disabilities) 
incurred as a result of attending this meeting. 
 

Social Media 
The LGA is committed to using social media in a co-ordinated and sensible way, as part of a 
strategic approach to communications, to help enhance the reputation of local government, 
improvement engagement with different elements of the community and drive efficiency. Please feel 
free to use social media during this meeting. However, you are requested not to use social media 
during any confidential items. 
 

The twitter hashtag for this meeting is #lgassc 
 



 

 

 

 
 

Safer & Stronger Communities Board – Membership 2015/2016 
 
Councillor Authority 

  
Conservative ( 7)  
Cllr Morris Bright (Vice 
Chairman) 

Hertsmere Borough Council 

Cllr Jo Beavis Braintree District Council 

Cllr Nick Daubney King's Lynn & West Norfolk Borough Council 
Cllr Thomas Fox Scarborough Borough Council 

Cllr Ian Gillies City of York Council 
Cllr Nick Worth South Holland District Council 

Vacancy  
  

Substitutes  
Cllr Chris Pillai Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council 

Cllr Tunde Ojetola Thurrock Council 
Cllr Lucy Botting Mole Valley District Council 

Cllr Marc Jones Lincolnshire County Council 
  
Labour ( 7)  
Cllr Simon Blackburn (Chair) Blackpool Council 

Cllr Michael Payne Gedling Borough Council 
Cllr Janet Daby Lewisham London Borough Council 

Cllr Kate Haigh Gloucester City Council 
Cllr Tony Page Reading Borough Council 
Cllr Sophie Linden Hackney London Borough Council 

Cllr Mike Connolly Bury Metropolitan Borough Council 
  

Substitutes  
Cllr Richard Chattaway Warwickshire County Council 

Cllr Joy Allen Durham County Council 
  
Independent ( 2)  
Cllr Philip Evans JP (Deputy 
Chair) 

Conwy County Borough Council 

Cllr Colin Mann Caerphilly County Borough Council 

  
Substitutes  

Cllr Goronwy Edwards Conwy County Borough Council 
Cllr Clive Woodbridge Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 

 
  
Liberal Democrat ( 2)  
Cllr Lisa Brett (Deputy Chair) Bath & North East Somerset Council 

Cllr Anita Lower Newcastle upon Tyne City Council 
  

Substitutes  
Cllr Christopher Coleman Cheltenham Borough Council 

 



 

 

 
 

LGA Safer & Stronger Communities Board  
Attendance 2015-2016 
 
 

Councillors 14/09/15 07/12/15 22/02/16   

      

Conservative Group      

Morris Bright Yes Yes Yes   

Jo Beavis Yes Yes Yes   

Nick Daubney No No Yes   

Tom Fox Yes Yes Yes   

Joanna Gardner Yes Yes Yes   

Ian Gillies Yes Yes Yes   

Nick Worth Yes Yes No   

      

Labour Group      

Simon Blackburn Yes Yes Yes   

Mike Connolly Yes Yes Yes   

Michael Payne Yes Yes No   

Janet Daby No Yes Yes   

Kate Haigh Yes Yes Yes   

Tony Page Yes Yes Yes   

Sophie Linden Yes Yes Yes   

      

Independent      

Philip Evans JP Yes Yes No   

Colin Mann Yes Yes Yes   

      

Lib Dem Group      

Lisa Brett Yes Yes No   

Anita Lower Yes Yes Yes   

      

      

Substitutes/Observers      

Kay Hammond Yes  Yes   

Lucy Botting Yes     

Chris Pillai Yes Yes Yes   

Joy Allen  Yes Yes   

Richard Chattaway  Yes    

Mark Jones   Yes   

Goronwy Edwards   Yes   

      

 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Safer & Stronger Communities Board 
 
Monday 6 June 2016 
 
11.00 am 
 
Smith Square 1&2, Ground Floor, Local Government House, Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ 
 

 
 

 Item Page  
 

1.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

2.   Westminster / Manchester / Geofutures gambling 
research project - overview and outcomes 
 

1 - 4  

3.   Managing the Evening and Night-time Economy 
 

5 - 10  

4.   Queen's Speech/Legislative update paper 
 

11 - 14  

5.   Improving the community safety response from 
councils 
 

15 - 20  

6.   End of Year Report 2016 
 

21 - 24  

7.   Update paper 
 

25 - 30  

8.   Notes of previous meeting 
 

31 - 38  

9.  Appendix A    

  
 

  

 
 
 Date of Next Meeting: Monday, 12 September 2016, 11.00 am, Smith Square 

3&4, Ground Floor, Local Government House, Smith Square, London, SW1P 
3HZ 

 



 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 

     

Westminster / Manchester / Geofutures gambling research project - 
overview and outcomes  

Purpose 
 
For discussion and direction. 
 
Summary 
 
Mark Thurstain-Goodwin of Geofutures will be attending the Board meeting to give an 
overview of the recent Westminster-Manchester-Geofutures research project into area 
vulnerability to gambling related harm. 
 
 
 

 
Recommendation 
 
That the Board consider the potential benefits of the tools developed by Geofutures for 
Westminster and Manchester, and how these might be applied more widely. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to progress as directed. 
 

 
 
 
Contact Officer:  Ellie Greenwood  

Position:   Senior Adviser 

Telephone No:  020 7664 3219 

Email:   ellie.greenwood@local.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

mailto:ellie.greenwood@local.gov.uk


 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 

     

 

Westminster / Manchester / Geofutures gambling research project - 
overview and outcomes  

 
Background 
 

1. In summer 2014, the LGA facilitated discussions between councillors and betting shop 
businesses as part of a six month ‘Betting Commission.’ 

2. The first meeting of the Commission acknowledged the general lack of reliable data 
relating to issues and concerns linked to betting shops. Westminster Council advised that 
they had developed an outline of a research project intended to address this. 

3. Following the conclusion of the Betting Commission, the LGA provided a grant of £30,000 
to Westminster to enable them to commission the project as a joint partner with 
Manchester City Council.  
 

Issues 
 

4. The overall objective of the project was to develop an approach that helped to 
understand local area vulnerability to gambling related harm. The project was led by 
Geofutures, a firm specialising in spatial data analysis and mapping. 
 

5. The project ran in two stages. Recognising the lack of clear understanding about what 
harm from gambling actually is and who might be affected by it, the first stage focused on 
developing a better understanding of who is at risk; the second focused on how this 
information could be mapped and used by the councils to help understand the risks in 
their areas. 

 
6. The first stage of the project was led by Heather Wardle, a gambling research specialist 

who sat on the LGA Betting Commission.  This stage reviewed existing literature and 
data on gambling related harm. 

 
7. This identified a number of groups for whom there was evidence to show that they were 

more vulnerable to experiencing harm from gambling than the general population.  These 
are: children, adolescents and young adults (including students); people with mental 
health issues, including those experiencing substance abuse issues; individuals from 
certain minority ethnic groups; the unemployed; homeless people; those with low 
intellectual functioning; problem gamblers seeking treatment, those with financially 
constrained circumstances and those living in deprived areas.   

 
8. The next stage of the project involved identifying datasets that could be used to map out 

these at risk groups in terms of local areas. National data from the 2011 census was 
combined with local level data – such as health information and the location of relevant 
services (for example, for problem gamblers, the homeless or people dealing with 
substance abuse, or educational establishments) – to identify ‘hotspot’ areas where there 
may be greater numbers of people who are potentially more vulnerable to harm from 
gambling. 

Page 2

Agenda Item 2



 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 

     

 
9. The final report from the project is attached as Appendix A, and shows the maps that 

were produced for each council (page 58 onwards). These enable the two councils to 
identify areas with the greatest vulnerability to gambling related harm, based on the 
aggregation of individual risk factors.  

 
10. In particular, the tools and underpinning research will enable Westminster and 

Manchester to provide a robust basis for new social responsibility requirements 
introduced by the Gambling Commission. Since April 2016, gambling operators have 
been required to prepare local area risk assessments setting out how their premises will 
manage local risks to the licensing objectives. Councils are therefore being encouraged 
to produce local area profiles providing more detail about their areas, including what the 
local risks may be and what they expect of operators in those places. 

 
11. On the basis of the research, the councils also now have clear grounds for assessing the 

risk of harm to vulnerable persons from individual gambling premises, which would allow 
them to identify any appropriate conditions and - if the data can be shown to justify it - 
potentially even introduce a higher threshold for the opening of a new premise in certain 
areas. 

 
Next steps 
 
12. The project team hosted open meetings as the project was launched, at the conclusion of 

the literature review, and at the conclusion of the project. Alongside interest among the 
gambling industry, a number of councils attended these sessions and expressed interest 
in the tool. 
 

13.  The LGA has publicised the outcomes from the project in our bulletin and in First 
magazine. We are also intending to hold a gambling focused conference in Autumn 2017, 
which will include a focus on local area profiles and the Geofutures tool. 

 
14. We are also considering the options for making the tool available to councils more widely. 

We have held initial discussions with Geofutures about the scope for incorporating a 
basic level of the tool (based on national datasets) to all council subscribers to our 
existing LG Inform tool. This would require two pieces of work, focusing firstly on the data 
and secondly on linking the Geofutures model to LG Inform. 

 
15. The Gambling Commission are also interested in making national data models available 

on their websites, and we have discussed with them the scope for joining up on the data 
focused work required. However, the indicative costs quoted for this are extremely high 
(£120,000-£180,000 across Britain) and at the current time it does not appear feasible to 
do so. 

 
16. Officers will continue to explore the potential options for supporting a wider roll out of the 

tool. 
 

Implications for Wales 
 
17. Gambling licensing is a reserved matter. The Gambling Commission’s interest in the 

wider use of this tool extends across the whole of Britain. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 

     

 
Financial Implications 

18. None. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 

Managing the Evening and Night-time Economy 

Purpose 
 
For discussion and direction. 
 
Summary 
 
A diverse and vibrant night-time economy can make a significant economic and cultural 
contribution to an area, while at the same time mitigating the disorder that can arise from an 
evening economy that is led by vertical drinking establishments. Many areas are exploring 
the tools at their disposal to encourage a more positive usage of their evening and night time 
hubs.  
 
This paper sets out some options for how the LGA can provide support and advice to assist 
these areas in their work.  
 
 
 

 
Recommendations 
 
The Safer & Stronger Communities Board are asked to provide views on: 
 

1. whether the Board’s existing work in this area is appropriate and adds value to this 
agenda; 

2. if there are any gaps or opportunities to further develop our support for councils; and 
3. any examples of interesting practice in their own councils.  

 
Action 
 
Officers to progress as directed. 
 

 
 
 
Contact Officer:  Ian Leete 

Position:   Adviser (Regulation) 

Telephone No:  0207 664 3143 

Email:    ian.leete@local.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

mailto:ian.leete@local.gov.uk


 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 
 

Managing the Evening and Night-time Economy 

 
Background 
 
1. Councils have been working to reduce levels of crime and disorder related to excessive 

alcohol consumption since before they were made responsible for licensing in 2003. At 
the same time, many have been seeking to develop their cultural offer to attract a more 
diverse range of people to visit their town centres in the evening and night-time. 
 

2. Many councils are seeking to take a more proactive, managed approach to encouraging 
this shift, which has been shown to reduce crime and disorder at the same time as 
boosting the local economy and creating a more pleasant environment in which to live 
and work.  

 
3. Until recently, approaches have been targeted at the night-time economy, which has 

been taken to mean 12 midnight until 6am. More recent studies have shown that creating 
a continuous offer between the day-time economy and the night-time economy is more 
effective at minimising crime and alcohol-related harm. This paper therefore refers to the 
evening and night-time economy (ENTE), roughly corresponding to 6pm to 6am.  

 
4. The alcohol industry has an annual turnover of £66 billion, which is 10% of national GDP 

and up to one third of the revenue raised by town centres. Although the highest volume 
of alcohol is now sold through off-licences, and particularly supermarkets, from a social 
perspective it is pubs, clubs and restaurants that add the most to the evening economy 
and any tourist offer.  
 

5.  In 2015 there were half a billion visits to pubs, reflecting the importance of pubs to our 
society. The wider on-trade accounts for 6% of all employment in the UK and generates 
one in six of new jobs for 18-24 year olds.  

 
6. At a local level, the average pub employs 25 people and generates £250,000 inward 

investment for the community. Pubs have recognised benefits in community cohesion 
and social wellbeing, with local pubs running events for charity, offering a way to deliver 
public services, and often becoming the heart of the community. 

 

7. Supporting well-run premises, that do not contribute to local crime and disorder or public 
nuisance, is therefore beneficial to the local economy and to the community. Creating a 
mix of food-led premises, vertical drinking establishments and a late-night offer, in the 
proportions appropriate to the locality, can enhance a tourist offer and draw in visitors 
from surrounding areas. However, an offer that emphasises vertical-led drinking over 
other alternatives can prove problematic, with high levels of anti-social behaviour and 
violence.  

 
8. There has been a steady stream of press releases claiming that licensing and red tape 

are responsible for this decline in licensed premises, particularly nightclubs which have 
declined at a sharp rate. In practice, there are a number of issues taking place, including 
a change in consumer patterns.   

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 
9. However, the pub industry is going through a period of change. In the past 10 years, 

21,000 drink-led venues have closed, but over 8,600 food-led venues have opened over 
the same time. Over 50% of night clubs have also closed over this period – many citing 
conflicts with relaxed planning regulations that permit residential conversions next to the 
premises. These changes may be good news for some localities, but can also pose 
challenges for others. 

 
Council tools and approaches 
 
10. Councils are using a mix of regulatory and economic tools to shape their evening and 

night-time economies. The consensus is that councils have the appropriate tools 
available to them, but need to explore more effectively how to use them. The following 
examples outline the three core approaches that councils can take – regulatory, nudge, 
and partnership: 
 

10.1 Newcastle have implemented a late-night levy to fund additional work in the 
night-time economy. This has led to a significant number of premises reducing 
their hours, allowing for a more targeted engagement and enforcement 
approach with the remaining venues. More significantly, it has funded the 
creation of a best practice scheme which has improved the operation of local 
premises. The Business Improvement District has also hosted ‘Live after 5’ to 
encourage more visitors. 
 

10.2 Leeds has hosted ‘Light Leeds’ to introduce people to arts and cultural venues 
that they might not otherwise see. In 2015, the event saw 60,000 people attend 
across 30 different venues. Follow on research has indicated that this has 
increased overall inter-change between the day and night-time economies, with 
a positive impact on crime levels. Leeds has also worked with door supervisors 
to take on responsibility for monitoring the streets after closing. Together, these 
measures have led to a 10% reduction in crime levels.  

 
10.3 Stockton Heath (Warrington) was the first village to achieve Purple Flag 

status, reflecting the mix of food-led premises on offer. The incentive of the 
award acted as catalyst to bring partners together and work towards a common 
goal. However, this has been at some expense of Warrington town centre and 
a cumulative impact policy has been introduced to rebalance the situation. 
Warrington has since commissioned a detailed report into its ENTE and 
created a vision for the future of the area, which will be in part delivered 
through its licensing work. 
 

National/regional work 
 
11 Creation and management of the ENTE is receiving a lot of attention from both 

Government and industry bodies, in addition to the work of councils. The following 
pieces of work are known to be underway: 
 

11.1 Local Alcohol Action Areas (LAAAs) were launched by the Home Office in 
2013. The first round of 20 explored three objectives, one of which was 
diversifying the night-time economy. The report summarising the work of these 
areas has not yet been published, but the Home Office has announced a 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 
second wave of 40 areas. Areas will be invited to bid for the programme in 
June/July, and diversifying the ENTE will be a core objective (expanding on the 
original objective of diversifying the night-time economy). 
 

11.2 The Portman Group has commissioned Britain Thinks to conduct a research 
project into the ENTE and how it can be encouraged. This has created a 
number of theoretical models, including the ‘Pyramid of Buzz’ and is now 
conducting detailed research into two council areas. The research is due to 
conclude in the Autumn.  

 
11.3 The Night Time Industries Association is a new trade association that has 

established itself on the national arena, particularly in London. They have 
recently worked with Philip Kolvin QC to publish a manifesto on supporting the 
night-time economy. They aim to work with local authorities, particularly large 
urban areas, to help them support the industry.  
 

11.4 The London Night-Time Commission was set up by the outgoing Mayor of 
London to look at how London’s night-time economy could be coordinated to 
best effect, supporting London to continue to be the international destination of 
choice. It has a number of aims, including supporting the outer London 
boroughs to diversify their offer, should they wish to do so. It is closely 
examining licensing policies and the decisions of licensing committees as part 
of its work. Westminster and Camden Councils are represented directly on the 
Commission, while Cllr Sophie Linden of Hackney and Cllr Greg Smith of 
Hammersmith & Fulham respectively represent the LGA’s Safer and Stronger 
Communities and Culture, Tourism and Sport Boards on a local authority 
working group. The Commission is due to make recommendations in the 
Autumn, including on the need for a Night Mayor or Czar.   

 
Next steps 
 
12 The LGA has existing links with the projects above, and has been invited to co-brand 

The Portman Group research. We propose to continue this engagement.  
 

13 The LGA also continues to receive examples of interesting and effective practice from 
councils. As part of our improvement support offer, the LGA has committed to publishing 
two licensing Councillor handbooks during this financial year, one of which will focus on 
managing the ENTE and will collate the case studies that have been shared so far.  

 
14 A roundtable with industry bodies will also take place on 6 June, providing an 

opportunity to identify any further opportunities to work collaboratively with industry. It is 
expected that the Home Office will organise workshops on diversifying the ENTE for the 
40 LAAA areas; the LGA could consider its own event on this subject, or seek to ensure 
this is featured in other regular events such as the Institute of Licensing conference. 

 
15 Members are asked to provide views on: 
 

15.1  whether the existing work is appropriate and adds value to this agenda; 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 
15.2 if there are any gaps or opportunities to further develop our support for 

councils; and 
 

15.3 any examples of interesting practice in their own councils.  
 
Implications for Wales 
 
16 Wales experiences the same problems and has access to the same tools.  

 
Financial implications 
 
17 Any additional work identified from this report will be met from existing resources.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 3





 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 

     

Queen’s Speech / Legislative Update  

Purpose 
 
For discussion and direction. 
 
Summary 
 
The Queen’s Speech on 18 May set out the government’s legislative agenda for the next 
session of Parliament, and contained five bills of interest to the Safer and Stronger 
Communities Board. This report sets out the details of these bills. 
 
 
 

 
Recommendation 
 

The Board are invited to note the bills in the Queen’s Speech of interest.  

 
Action 
 
Officers to incorporate members’ comments and suggestions in the Board’s work going 
forward. 
 

 
 
 
Contact Officer:  Charles Loft 

Position:   Senior Adviser 

Telephone No:  020 7665 3874 

Email:   Charles.loft@local.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 11

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Charles.loft@local.gov.uk


 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 

     

 

Queen’s Speech / Legislative Update  

 
 
Background 

 
1. The Queen’s Speech on 18 May set out the government’s legislative agenda for the 

next session of Parliament, and contained five bills of interest to the Safer and 
Stronger Communities Board: The Counter-Extremism and Safeguarding Bill; the 
Criminal Finances Bill; the Investigatory Powers Bill; the Policing and Crime Bill; and 
the Prisons and Courts Bill. 
 

Counter-Extremism and Safeguarding Bill 
 

2. An Extremism Bill was announced in the Queen’s Speech in 2015 to implement the 
legislative changes the Home Office identified as being needed during the 
development of the Counter-Extremism Strategy. However due to the priority given to 
the Investigatory Powers Bill, this Bill was not brought before Parliament. Although 
the name of the Bill has changed the substantive provisions are not expected to have 
altered.  
 

3. In addition to the banning order and extremism disruption orders announced as being 
in the Bill last year, it will introduce powers to intervene in unregulated education 

settings which teach hate. This will include stronger powers for the Disclosure and 
Barring Service. The Bill is also intended to give OFCOM new powers over internet-
streamed television content from outside the EU, while the government will consider 
the need for further legislation following the publication of Louise Casey’s review into 
integration. 

 
4. For the LGA the most significant proposal related to the Bill is likely to be the 

Government’s intention to consult on introducing powers to intervene where councils 
fail to tackle extremism. The LGA has called for the Government to assist councils in 
sharing existing good practice and to ensure they councils have the resources they 
need to build local capacity to counter extremist activity, rather than consult on the 
need for new powers of intervention. When the consultation has been published the 
Board’s views will be sought on the LGA’s response.  

 
Criminal Finances Bill 
 

5. The Bill is designed to allow more criminal assets to be recouped and to tackle 
money laundering and corruption. It will reform the law on recovering the proceeds of 
crime by implementing a more effective regime to support reporting of suspicious 
financial activity, making it easier to seize illicit funds, and to improve coordination 
between the public and private sectors to tackle criminal financial behaviour.  

 
6. The LGA has already pointed out that local authority trading standards officers, as 

well as teams involved in licensing, planning and environmental health actively use 
the Proceeds of Crime Act to recover money criminals have gained through 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 

     

consumer fraud, car clocking, selling counterfeit goods and doorstep crimes and 
scams, as well the increasing number of crimes committed through the internet. 
These proceeds are then used to compensate victims as well invested in further 
enforcement and investigation activity. The Bill will be monitored to see whether it has 
any implications for councils’ ability to recover assets under the Proceeds of Crime 
Act.  
 

Investigatory Powers Bill 
 

7. This is a carryover Bill that the Board received an update on at its last meeting when 
discussing the impact of cyber-crime on councils and the communities they serve. 
The Bill sets out a number of measures about the interception of communications, 
equipment interference and the acquisition and retention of communications data. In 
particular for councils, it puts forward measures to increase oversight of access to, 
and use of, communications data.  
 

8. Councils will remain subject to more stringent oversight than any other body 
accessing communications data due to the requirement for them to seek judicial 
authorisation before accessing communications data.  
 

9. Although they are not the main users of communications data, teams within councils, 
such as trading standards, use communications data to tackle a range of criminal 
activity such as rogue traders and loan sharks. 
 

10. The LGA supports the safeguards identified as an important means of ensuring public 
confidence, but is calling for the process of judicial authorisation to be simplified so 
that it does not hinder appropriate use of communications data by councils. The Bill 
has progressed through the Committee stage in the House of Commons without any 
changes to the provisions relating to councils access to communications data. The 
LGA will therefore continue to monitor the progress of the Bill in case any 
amendments are made to it which would impact on councils.   
 

Policing and Crime Bill 
 

11. This is another carryover Bill, which is now about to move to the House of Lords, and 
members will recall they received an update on it at the last Board meeting. It 
requires the emergency services to collaborate, makes provision for a Police and 
Crime Commissioner (PCC) to take responsibility for the Fire and Rescue Service 
(FRS) in their area, subject to a local business case being made and to create a 
single employer for police and fire. Where PCCs do not take over FRS responsibility, 
the Bill enables a PCC to be represented on an FRA (outside London) with voting 
rights, where the FRA agrees.  
 

12. The LGA has lobbied on these provisions previously, including arranging for 
amendments to be tabled following discussion at Fire Services Management 
Committee, and is represented on a PCC chief executives’ working group devising a 
model business case. The LGA has argued that there is no need to compel services 
to collaborate and PCCs, who have not been elected with a mandate to run FRS, 
should only take on responsibility for their FRS where this has been agreed by the 
Fire and Rescue Authority and that business cases need to consider the costs and 
benefits to the whole affected area. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 

     

 
13. The Bill also amends the definition of alcohol to cover powdered alcohol and extends 

the powers of councils to suspend or revoke personal licences. The LGA supports 
extended powers to revoke licences, as this will enable councils to take prompt action 
to ensure that people convicted of relevant criminal activity are unable to authorise 
the sale of alcohol. However, we have argued that further reform of the Licensing Act 
and other licensing regimes is needed to enhance councils’ abilities to protect the 
public whilst supporting responsible businesses to operate on a level playing field.  
 

Prison and Courts Reform Bill  
 

14. This Bill aims to reform prisons to ensure they are places of rehabilitation. Governors 
will be given the freedom to improve the education, healthcare and security, as well 
as the life chances of prisoners. The Bill will also reform courts and tribunals so they 
deliver faster and fairer justice. From the Board’s perspective it seems there will be 
little of immediate relevance to its current work programme in the Bill, but it will be 
reviewed on publication to ensure this is the case. 

 
Next steps 

 
15. The focus for the LGA’s activity going forward will continue to be around the Policing 

and Crime Bill. The LGA will also review the provisions in the Counter-Extremism and 
Safeguarding Bill when it is published to gauge the impact on local authorities. 
Further updates will be brought to the Board as these bills make their way through 
Parliament.  
 

16. Members are asked to note the bills in the Queen’s Speech of interest to the Board.  

 
Financial Implications 

17. None. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



 

Safer and Stronger 
Communities Board 

6 June 2016 

 

 

     

Improving the community safety response from councils  
 
Purpose  
 
For discussion and decision. 
 
Summary 
 
Since 2010 community safety partnerships (CSPs) have seen reductions in their funding, 
alongside increasing recognition of the role councils can play in responding to a range of 
threats to communities and individuals including terrorism and radicalisation, serious and 
organised crime, modern slavery, child sexual exploitation, and violence against women and 
girls. At the September Safer and Stronger Communities Board it was agreed that work 
should be undertaken to explore how councils and CSPs can respond to the challenges of 
less funding and increased expectations. This paper sets out proposals for a review of these 
challenges, councils’ community safety roles and functions, and invites comment on a 
number of key issues.  
 
 

 
Recommendations 
 
The Board are asked to:  
 

1. Comment on the review proposals as outlined, including nominations for members to 
sit on the stakeholder group; and  

2. Consider the specific questions for discussion. 
 
Action 
 

Officers to action as directed.  

 

 
 
Contact officer:   Rachel Duke 

Position: Adviser, Community Safety 

Phone no: 020 7664 3086 

Email: rachel.duke@local.gov.uk   

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5

mailto:rachel.duke@local.gov.uk


 

 

Safer and Stronger 
Communities Board 

6 June 2016 

 
 

     

Improving the community safety response from councils  
 

Background 

1. The changing landscape in which community safety partnerships (CSPs), County 

Strategy Groups (CSGs) and councils’ community safety functions operate over recent 

years, coupled with significant changes to and reductions in funding, both for CSPs and 

local government more widely, has prompted many councils to consider how best to 

deliver their community safety responsibilities.  

 

2. At the same time there have been increasing expectations that councils will be at the 

forefront of statutory partners’ responses to protecting the public including addressing 

issues like domestic abuse, child sexual exploitation and safeguarding vulnerable 

people.  

 

3. In September the Board agreed that work should be undertaken to explore how councils 

can improve their response to these types of issues, and how councils and CSPs could 

do this while meeting the challenges of reduced funding and increasing expectations. 

This paper sets out proposals for taking forward this review in the context of the current 

and future frameworks within which CSPs operate, and seeks the Board’s views on key 

issues.  

Context 

4. Whilst there remain only a small number of statutory responsibilities on CSPs, recent 

central government strategies have identified the key role councils can play in 

contributing to or leading responses to a range of different issues, including violence 

against women and girls, modern slavery, serious and organised crime, radicalisation 

and counter-extremism, and ending gang and youth violence.  

 

5. The focus for many community safety teams has therefore moved increasingly away 

from tackling volume crime such as burglary or robbery to supporting multi-agency 

efforts in broader and more complex areas including child protection, managing 

persistent offenders and safeguarding vulnerable adults, alongside the traditional 

partnership approaches to anti-social behaviour. This has resulted in the development of 

a broad range of different models for delivering councils’ community safety activity. 

These have included fully integrated multi-agency teams seeking to provide holistic 

approaches to crime prevention and disruption, through to CSPs becoming 

commissioners of services rather than delivering them directly and coordinating other 

local government services to respond to particular issues, and some areas exploring the 

outsourcing the community safety function as an employee owned public sector mutual.  

 

6. Added to this, Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) have become a firm part of the 

delivery culture around crime and community safety and have a significant influence on 

the direction of local government’s community safety work, both politically and in its 

Page 16

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Safer and Stronger 
Communities Board 

6 June 2016 

 
 

     

resourcing. By law PCCs have to produce a Police and Crime Plan to tackle community 

safety in their force area; this has taken precedence over local partnerships in many 

areas and in some situations has left the CSP unclear of their role and the relevance of 

their own local strategy. While some have aligned strategies to Police and Crime Plans, 

this has raised issues as to the nature of the relationship between CSP strategies and 

Police and Crime Plans.  

 

7. Funding is similarly varied; some PCCs have provided funds for CSPs to continue to 

commission services at a local level, while others prefer to commission from the PCC’s 

office and do not involve CSPs unless they have bid in to deliver programmes on behalf 

of the PCC.  

 

8. Reforms in probation and health have also minimised the ability of these services to be 

flexible and adaptable to local needs, with many smaller CSPs reporting a mixed picture 

in engagement of the health and probation sectors in the CSP, despite their statutory 

obligations. 

 

9. The government’s evolving ambition for PCCs, including giving them the opportunity to 

take on responsibility for the fire service and elements of the criminal justice system will 

have a further impact on council’s community safety roles, functions and activity.  It 

provides a further impetus for local government to review current models for delivering 

community safety, and consider options for the future.  

 

Review proposals 

 

10. The project will operate on a short task and finish basis to prompt strategic thinking at 

individual authority and sector wide levels about the future role of councils in improving 

community safety. This is not about trying to mandate the sector to come up with a 

particular answer to the challenging questions councils face in relation to community 

safety; it is about encouraging councils and their partners to think long and hard about 

what is needed from council services in the community safety context and how best to 

deliver this. If local government does not engage in this type of thinking there is a risk 

that others will lead the debate and shape the agenda for councils in the future. It is 

proposed therefore that the project will:  

10.1 consider what councils’ role in tackling crime and delivering safer communities 
should be; 

10.2 analyse what local government needs from CSPs and CSGs, and vice versa, in 
England and Wales within both the current and future community safety 
landscapes, with reference to current statutory responsibilities and resourcing 
constraints;  

10.3 consider how this affects local governments’ and CSPs’ responses to public 
protection issues in particular; and  

10.4 explore and assess the options for the future of CSPs and CSGs, with a view to 
outlining a series of recommended next steps.  

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Safer and Stronger 
Communities Board 

6 June 2016 

 
 

     

11. An initial think-piece was drafted last year by LGA officers as a starting point for this 

work, which began to draw out some of the key themes for exploration – including 

partnership structures, CSPs’ core purpose, models for service delivery, and operating 

within wider political and multi-agency settings. This was discussed by members of 

LGA’s community safety advisers’ network (CSAN), many of whom are officers from 

authorities who have begun to test alternative ways of working.  

 

12. It is proposed that this work is now developed using a similar methodology to the LGA’s 

trading standards review published earlier this year. This will include: 

12.1 building on work by the Institute of Community Safety (ICS), to map changes to 
CSPs’ resourcing and structures since 2010;  

 
12.2 exploring the range of both statutory and non-statutory functions in which local 

government community safety teams have a role, including public protection 
cases, and how these operate in practice; 

 
12.3 collating the findings from this survey alongside the earlier think-piece to inform 

two stakeholder group workshops in the autumn, to help identify and develop a 
local government view on the future of community safety and CSPs; and  

 
12.4 following the stakeholder workshops, assessing progress and identifying whether 

there is scope for further work and discussion.  
 
13 A final report will be published at the end of the review.  

 
14 The work of CSPs involves a broad range of stakeholders and it is suggested that this 

review involves as many of these parties as possible, including: 

 

14.1 Council Chief Executives and Senior Managers from a range of different 

authority types 

14.2 Elected members nominated by LGA political group offices 

14.3 Members of the LGA Community Safety Advisers Network 

14.4 Solace 

14.5 District Councils’ Network 

14.6 Police Foundation 

14.7 Institute of Community Safety  

14.8 Third sector organisations such as Catch 22 

14.9 PCC or APCC representative 

14.10 Representatives from the other responsible authorities on CSPs, including fire, 

health and probation services. 

 

15 The Board is invited to nominate a representative or representatives to take part in the 

group’s discussions.  

 
  

Page 18

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Safer and Stronger 
Communities Board 

6 June 2016 

 
 

     

Questions for discussion  
 
16 We would welcome the Board’s views on the following issues in particular:  

16.1 In broad terms, how have CSPs and councils’ community safety services changed 
over recent years? How do these differ between different councils?  
 

16.2 What has been the impact of the introduction of PCCs on this? What is the most 
effective relationship between CSPs and PCCs? 
 

16.3 How best do we separate out consideration of the future of local councils’ role in 
community safety from the future of CSPs - when the latter is reliant on a number 
of other agencies over which councils have limited influence? 
 

16.4 What might be the implications of devolution and new governance models on 
CSPs in the future?  

 

Financial implications  
 
17 The review is being supported through normal staff and resource budgets. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5





 

Safer & Stronger Communities 
Board 

6 June 2016 

 
 

     

End of Year Board Report 

Purpose of report  

 

For information and discussion. 

 

Summary 

 

This report provides an overview of the issues and work the Board has overseen during last 
year. It sets out key achievements in relation to the priorities for the Safer & Stronger 
Communities Board in 2015/2016, and looks forward to next year’s priorities. 

 

 

 

Recommendations 

 

The Board are invited to: 

 

1. Note the achievements against the Board’s priorities in 2015/2016; and 
2. Note the Board’s priority areas for 2016/17. 

 

Action 

 

Officers to action as appropriate.  

 

 

 

 

Contact officer:   Mark Norris / Ciarán Whitehead 

Position: Principal Policy Advisor / Member Services Officer 

Phone no: 020 7664 3241 / 020 7664 3107 

E-mail: Mark.Norris@local.gov.uk / Ciaran.Whitehead@local.gov.uk  

 

 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Mark.Norris@local.gov.uk
mailto:Ciaran.Whitehead@local.gov.uk


 

Safer & Stronger Communities 
Board 

6 June 2016 

 
 

     

End of Year Board Report  

Background   
 

1. The updated Business Plan for 15/16 set out a number of priorities for the Safer & 
Stronger Communities Board. These included: pressing for simplified risk-based 
regulation that supports local business and pressing for further reform of the licensing 
system; supporting councils to implement ‘Prevent’, to reduce crime against vulnerable 
people and to address violent and cyber-related crime; and making the case for the risk-
based funding of the fire and rescue service.  

 
Achievements 

 
2. We successfully lobbied the Ministry of Justice to ensure councils remained outside the 

scope of the expanded statutory Victim’s Code. The Psychoactive Substances Bill 
received Royal Assent. The National FGM Centre held its first conference and secured 
funding for 2016/17 and is running pilot schemes in 6 local authorities.   

 
Prevent Counter Extremism & community cohesion 
 

3. The chair held meetings with John Hayes, the Security Minister, and Lord Ahmad, the 
Minister for Counter-Extremism, to discuss the role of councils in the Prevent and counter-
extremism agendas. He highlighted the pressure this work was placing on councils’ 
community safety related activity & budgets. We produced a set of six case studies of 
councils’ counter-extremism activities, covering schools, taxi licensing & community sport. 
 

Protecting the public and community safety 
 

4. We ran a training session for police and crime panel members and launched an e-learning 
tool for panel members; we influenced the development of the refreshed Violence Against 
Women and Girls Strategy; our work around child sexual exploitation and taxi licensing 
provided support and training to councils; we held regional  workshops on responding to 
extreme weather events and produced a guide to the role of councils in civil emergencies; 
we published a guide to council’s role in tackling organised crime; and held the annual 
Safer Communities conference.  

 
Regulation 

 
5. The Investigatory Powers Bill proposes to maintain councils’ access to communications 

data, following ongoing lobbying by the LGA; the Policing and Crime Bill’s licensing 
provisions also reflects previous LGA lobbying. We completed a survey of licensing fees 
to support our future lobbying for localisation of licensing fees. We promoted the findings 
from a Westminster / Manchester project to help understand area vulnerability to gambling 
related harm, which the LGA part-funded, and hosted our annual licensing conference for 
nearly 100 councils. 
 

6. We published our review into the future of local government trading standards services, 
and commissioned further work intended to help councils think about their local options for 
ensuring future sustainability of trading standards and wider regulatory services. We also 

Page 22

Agenda Item 6



 

Safer & Stronger Communities 
Board 

6 June 2016 

 
 

     

submitted evidence to the ‘Cutting Red Tape’ review of local authority regulatory services, 
and continued to make the case for licensing reform. 
 

Fire & Rescue Services 
 

7. The Fire Service Management Committee responded to the consultation from the Home 
Office, Department of Health and Department for Communities and Local Government on 
collaboration between the emergency services; signed a consensus statement with NHS 
England, PHE, Age UK and Chief Fire Officers’ Association (CFOA) on the role of the fire 
service in the health agenda and published case studies in ‘Beyond fighting fires 2’ that 
demonstrated the sector’s ability to lead the way on blue-light collaboration. FSMC also 
lobbied around the Policing and Crime Bill, with the Chair meeting the Home Secretary; 
and held its annual fire conference and two fire leadership essentials courses. 

 
8. The FSMC continued to make the case for risk-based funding of the fire and rescue 

service, through its joint submission to the spending review with CFOA.   
 

Crematoria & coroners  
 

9. The Board responded to a number of reviews looking at the provision of coroners and 
crematoria services. Our submission to consultation on cremation provision for faith 
communities highlighted how councils have already responded to the needs of the 
different communities they serve. Our response to the consultation on infant cremation 
emphasised the importance of a local response to these issues. The LGA has been 
working with the Department of Health, the National Association of Funeral Directors and 
the National Society of Allied and Independent Funeral Directors to discuss bereavement 
related issues and the introduction of medical examiners. We have also responded to the 
Work and Pensions Committee’s Inquiry into funeral poverty. 
 

Programme of work and priorities 2016/17 
 

10. There is likely to be a degree of continuity in the Board’s work over 2016/17. Preventing 
terrorism and countering extremism continue to be issues of national importance. The 
government’s agenda of transferring responsibilities to Police and Crime Commissioners 
including the governance of the fire service and a greater role in the criminal justice 
system will have implications for Fire and Rescue Authorities as well as police and crime 
panels. Having conducted a survey on the costs of administering the alcohol licensing 
system we will want to continue to push for locally set fees, as well as supporting councils 
to implement joined up approaches to local licensing. We will also continue to support 
councils to find sustainable structures for wider regulatory services. The Violence Against 
Women and Girls agenda and the support councils provide to victims of domestic abuse 
and FGM will remain of interest to Whitehall departments and other stakeholders. There 
will also be new issues that emerge and which members want to see the LGA working on. 
Detailed proposals for consideration will therefore be brought to the Board meeting in 
September.  
 

Financial Implications 
 

11. All work programmes are met from existing budgets and resources. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6





 

Safer and Stronger 
Communities Board 

6 June 2016 

 

 

     

Update paper  

Purpose  
 
For information and direction.  
 
Summary 
 
This report provides an update on LGA policy work and developments affecting the priorities 
agreed by the Safer and Stronger Communities Board.  
 
 
 

 
Recommendation 
 
Members are asked to note the activities outlined.  
 
Action 
 
Officers to progress as directed by members.  
 

 
 
 

Contact officer:  Mark Norris 

Position: Principal Policy Adviser  

Phone no: 020 7664 3241 

Email: mark.norris@local.gov.uk   

 
  

Page 25

Agenda Item 7

mailto:mark.norris@local.gov.uk


 

Safer and Stronger 
Communities Board  

6 June 2016 

 

 

     

 

Update Report  
 
Domestic abuse  
 
1. Portsmouth City Council has recently been commissioned by the LGA to undertake some 

research on the cost of domestic abuse to local authorities. The Council will collect data 
from up to ten local areas to assess costs across a number of council departments, and 
explore the savings that might be made through investment in prevention and 
intervention strategies. A draft report is expected by the end of June, with a final report in 
early September.  
 

2. We have been in touch with DCLG officers regarding the development of a National 
Statement of Expectations for local authority domestic abuse services. A commitment to 
develop this was included in the government’s refreshed Violence Against Women and 
Girls Strategy in March, and will set out what local areas should provide for victims.  

 
Prevent  
 
3. Discussions have taken place with the Home Office regarding establishing a network of 

elected member Prevent champions, nominated by the LGA. It is hoped that an initial 
roundtable with Rt Hon John Hayes MP, Minister for Security, will be scheduled for 
London in mid-July (pending the Minister’s availability) where members will discuss 
Prevent, how to raise awareness and engagement, and undertake a Channel panel 
simulation exercise. Following this we will look to plan further regional events for elected 
members with the Home Office in the autumn.  

 
DCLG’s discussion paper on cremation provision and facilities 
 
4. In March the Department for Communities and Local Government published a discussion 

paper on crematoria provision and facilities for faith communities in the country. This 
followed the Chancellor’s announcement in the July 2015 budget that the Government 
would be carrying out a review of crematoria provision following a number of concerns 
being raised around the capacity of crematoria, in particular to accommodate Hindu and 
Sikh cremations, which traditionally have larger numbers of mourners attending. The  aim 
of the paper was to establish whether concerns were widespread. 

 
5. The discussion paper posed a number of questions and the LGA has responded to the 

consultation, following sign off from Lead Members and the Board’s Bereavement 
Services Champion, Cllr Ian Gillies. In our response we highlighted the work that many 
councils have already undertaken to update their equipment and facilities to ensure that 
they are answering the needs of all their communities, including those with faith and 
those without. Our response also discussed the importance of any response being locally 
led and tailored to local needs and the key role of councillors in scrutinising these 
services to ensure that they are meeting the needs of all communities, including those 
with faith and those without. 

 
  

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



 

Safer and Stronger 
Communities Board  

6 June 2016 

 

 

     

Medical Examiners 
 
6. The Government is currently consulting on reforming the death certification process 

through the introduction of Medical Examiners. Coroners and Justice Act 2009 sets out 
the legal basis for the introduction of Medical Examiners. The Health and Social Care Act 
2012 includes provision for responsibility for the service to sit with councils. The 
consultation closes on 15 June. 

 
7. The aim of the medical examiner service is to strengthen safeguards for the public, make 

the process of death certification simpler and more open for the bereaved, and improve 
the quality of certification and data about causes of death. The LGA will be responding to 
the consultation and have been speaking to a number of our registration and coroners 
advisers on these issues. Whilst they are supportive of the overall aims of the system 
they have raised a number of concerns regarding the introduction of the system as set 
out in the consultation document. These include funding, the support for implementation, 
the lack of integrated IT systems and the potential knock on effects on other local 
authority services (e.g. coroners etc.). 

 
Funeral poverty 
 
8. LGA officers attended a recent meeting hosted by the Department for Work and Pensions 

to discuss funeral poverty, particularly focussed on the social fund funeral payment. The 
Department for Work and Pensions is currently responsible for bereavement benefits, 
including the Social Fund Funeral Payment. This provides support to some people on 
qualifying benefits to help pay for a simple funeral.  

 
9. Local authorities also have a role in providing funerals. Councils have a statutory duty to 

provide public health funerals under section 46 of the Public Health (Control of Disease) 
Act 1984. The Act states that it is the duty of a local authority to bury or cremate a person 
who has died or been found dead in their area, where it appears that no suitable 
arrangements for the disposal of the body are being made. Local authorities are allowed 
to recover from the estate the expenses associated with carrying this duty out. Hospitals 
are responsible for conducting public health funerals when people die in hospital under 
these circumstances. 

 
10. The Work and Pensions Committee published an inquiry into these issues before 

Christmas, which the LGA responded to. The Committee’s report can be found on 
Parliament’s website: 
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201516/cmselect/cmworpen/551/551.pdf. 
The LGA will continue to engage with the DWP on these issues.  

 
London Night-Time Commission 
 
11. The Greater London Authority has appointed a Night-Time Commission to assess how 

London’s nightlife can best be supported and nurtured. This will include a close review of 
licensing committee minutes. Cllr Aiken of Westminster Council and Cllr Simpson of 
Camden are represented on the panel.  

 
12. Involvement and buy-in of councils as licensing authorities will be crucial to the work that 

the Commission is exploring. Consequently, the LGA arranged for a separate working 
group to look at local authority involvement. Cllr Linden of Hackney attended for the 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201516/cmselect/cmworpen/551/551.pdf


 

Safer and Stronger 
Communities Board  

6 June 2016 

 

 

     

SSCB and Cllr Smith of Hammersmith & Fulham for the Culture Tourism and Sport 
Board. 

 
13. The expectation is that this Commission will continue under the new mayor; the views of 

the new deputy mayor for Policing and Crime will be instrumental in how the work 
develops.  

 
14. Learning from the Commission will, where appropriate, be shared through the LGA’s 

network and potentially incorporated into our forthcoming handbook on Managing the 
Evening and Night-Time Economy. 

 
Psychoactive Substances Act 
 
15. The Psychoactive Substances Act came into effect on 26 May. The Act, which the Board 

will recall the LGA lobbied for and supported through Parliament, bans the production, 
distribution, sale and supply of psychoactive substances. Although it is expected that the 
police will take primary responsibility for enforcement of the Act, there is considerable 
scope for councils to support enforcement through their trading standards and community 
safety teams. The LGA has produced a guidance document outlining the new law, the 
powers available to councils and the police, and the potential role for councils. 

 
Tobacco licensing consultation 
 
16. The LGA submitted a response to a Department of Health consultation on the 

introduction of a tobacco licensing system. The consultation related to Article 6 of the 
World Health Organisation Framework Convention on Tobacco Control  Protocol. 
Government announced its intention to consult on this in the Autumn Statement, and 
sought views on the mandatory control of tobacco manufacturing equipment and whether 
the UK should licence wholesalers, retailers and brokers of tobacco products. 

 
17. Our response acknowledged the potential benefits of a licensing regime in terms of public 

health and tackling the illegal tobacco trade, but focused primarily on councils’ 
experience of licensing regimes and the implications for any future tobacco licensing 
framework. We commented that a licensing system would be more effective than a 
registration system. We  also noted that there would be a rationale for councils to be 
involved in licensing local tobacco retailers, given the overlap with other council work and 
existing licensing frameworks, but that licensing other parts of the supply chain would fit 
more easily with a national organisation. Lastly, we also emphasised that if a licensing 
framework were to be introduced, it should incorporate relevant aspects of different 
licensing frameworks (including the Gambling Act 2005), rather than simply seek to add 
tobacco onto an existing piece of legislation. 

 
Trading Standards work 
 
18. The LGA has commissioned Inlogov, at the University of Birmingham, to deliver a short 

piece of work taking forward our review of trading standards work. Inlogov are developing 
a short document highlighting examples of joined up trading standards and regulatory 
services; this is expected to be complete in July. 

 
  

Page 28

Agenda Item 7



 

Safer and Stronger 
Communities Board  

6 June 2016 

 

 

     

Licensing reform event 
 
19. The LGA co-hosted an event on licensing reform and devolution with Regulatory 

Delivery. The event heard from areas that have included regulation within their devolution 
proposals (the North East) as well as from a range of areas sharing best practice on 
bringing licensing functions together (Northamptonshire); joining up licensing processes 
(Cornwall) and strengthening taxi licensing procedures (Gateshead). In light of ongoing 
issues around taxi licensing in some councils, the LGA intends working with Gateshead 
to provide a comprehensive case study of the work they have done to improve their taxi 
licensing approach. 

 
Police and crime panels – PCC complaints consultation 
 
20. The Home Office have provided initial feedback on their recent consultation on 

complaints about PCCs conduct. As the consultation envisaged, they intend to provide 
guidance on what a complaint is and how panels can make recommendations in 
response to them: they expect to work with the LGA in developing this. The Home Office 
also advised that although they intend to legislate to give panels the powers to 
investigate complaints, it is now looking less likely that there will be scope to do so 
through the Policing And Crime Bill, although they will seek future opportunities to do so. 

 
Counter-Extremism  
 
21. The LGA is working with the Home Office to support councils' role in combatting 

extremism. The LGA has been in discussion with Luton and DCLG about re-establishing 
the Special Interest Group on the EDL in 2014 but expanding its remit to cover all forms 
of extremism. Lord Ahmad will be meeting the LGA Chairman to discuss counter-
extremism work this month and is also due to speak at the LGA conference 

 
Next steps 
 
22. Members are asked to note and comment on the issues above. 

 
Financial Implications 

23. None. 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7





 
 

 

Safer & Stronger Communities 
Board 

06 June 2016 

 

 
 

 

Note of last Safer & Stronger Communities Board meeting 
 

Title: 
 

Safer & Stronger Communities Board 

Date: 
 

Monday 22 February 2016 

Venue: Smith Square 1&2, Ground Floor, Local Government House, Smith 
Square, London, SW1P 3HZ 

  

 
Attendance 
An attendance list is attached as Appendix A to this note 

 
 

Item Decisions and actions Action 
 

1   Declarations of Interest 
  

 

 Apologies were received from Cllrs Nick Worth, Michael Payne, Philip 
Evans & Lisa Brett. Cllrs Marc Jones, Joy Allen and Goronwy Edwards 
were substituting. 
 
Decision: 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 

2   Lord Harris and the work of National Trading Standards 
  

 

 The Chair introduced Lord Harris of Haringey, Chair of National Trading 
Standards. Lord Harris outlined the work of National Trading Standards in 
tackling regional and national cases of consumer detriment. Although the 
he majority of resources for trading standards / consumer detriment work 
are spent via local trading standards teams, NTS has a £13m budget for 
addressing cross-border issues (and a further £3m grant for animal feed 
work). Lord Harris emphasised the importance of local trading standards 
for providing intelligence and hosting national teams.  
 
The Chair thanked Lord Harris for his presentation and asked Ellie 
Greenwood, Senior Advisor, to outline the LGA’s engagement with 
National Trading Standards. Ellie Greenwood outlined the LGA’s ongoing 
engagement on trading standards issues including:  
 

 cyber-crime 

 lobbying around the Investigatory Powers Bill and the importance 
of local authorities having access to communications data 

 dealing with a specific concern raised by a council in relation to 
telephone scams, which would involve working with the NTS 
scambusters team and organisations such as Age UK. 

 
The Chair then invited members to ask questions, and the following points 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
 

 

were made in the ensuing discussion:: 
 

 NTS uses intelligence to target suspect crates and produce at 
ports; 

 NTS is working with local trading standards teams to ensure the 
integrity of the feed chain in relation to food and livestock and 
ensure continued access to EU markets; 

 Members praised the work of the NTS illegal money lending 
teams; 

 NTS is in the early stages of a case to tackle the use of copycat 
websites (eg, for passport or European Health Insurance Card 
applications) and is in discussion with the government and search 
engine companies about the prominence of links to these sites; 

 Members raised concerns about cold calling zones and the extent 
to which councils are able to enforce these;  

 Some court sentences seemed relatively lenient, which could be 
addressed by raising awareness of the impact of cases on the 
vulnerable, which could leave people in a position where they 
needed care.   

 Members would welcome consideration of how the information 
provided by Lord Harris would be more regularly and widely 
circulated among councillors. 

 
In response to a question about funding Lord Harris explained that NTS 
would not charge local authorities for services. However, the likely impact 
of a significant reduction in funding from BIS would be that NTS would 
have to drop whole areas of work, such as their estate agent work and 
illegal money lending. 
 
Decision: 
 
The Board noted the discussion. 
 

3   Developing the LGA's position on measures for reducing alcohol-
related harm. 
  

 

 Ian Leete, Advisor, introduced the paper and explained that it reflected the 
ruling on 23 December 2015 by the European Court of Justice on the 
Scottish Whiskey Association’s legal challenge to the Scottish 
Government’s proposals to introduce a minimum unit price for alcohol. 
This ruling established that minimum pricing could be restrictive of trade 
between member states so could only be introduced if it is proportionate 
and if it does not go beyond what is necessary for achieving the objective, 
and must be the least restrictive measure available. The court also ruled 
that other measures which were less restrictive of trade such as increases 
in taxation had to be considered. The ruling introduces significant 
challenges to the implementation of a minimum unit price in England. 
Members were informed the Scottish courts have indicated they will 
consider the judgment and members asked to be updated on this at the 
next Board meeting. 
 
The paper sets out three alternative measures that could be used to 
reduce harm from alcohol: 
 

 

Page 32

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
 

 

 Extending effective harm-reduction measures in the on-trade to the 
off-trade 

 Lobbying for amendments to the duty regime 

 Reducing the strength of alcohol and boosting consumer 
awareness of strength 

 
There was a discussion about the paper during which members made a 
number of comments: 
 

 councils would need to look at a range of measures as there was 
no single solution to reducing alcohol related harm; 

 the problem of preloading alcohol was more an issue for the off-
trade than on-trade and measures should therefore reflect this; 

 there should be a focus on the long-term effects of alcohol; 

 the LGA should support events such as Alcohol Concern’s Dry 
January Awards; 

 problem drinking can be particularly prevalent in areas of high 
student density; 

 York has successfully introduce cumulative impact zone which has 
helped; 

 local authorities should be sharing best practice in how to tackle 
this issue 

 the LGA should encourage the promotion of low alcohol and 
alcohol free beers; 

 members wanted to include reducing the drink drive limit following 
the success in Scotland. 

 
Decision: 
 
The Board noted the European Court of Justice’s decision on the Scottish 
case, and agreed to take forward the proposals outlined in the paper, with 
the addition of reducing the drink drive limit. 
 
Action: 
 
Officers to progress in line with members comments and to update the 
Board about developments in the Scottish case at the next meeting. 
 

4   Local government and food regulation 
  

 

 Ellie Greenwood, Senior Advisor, introduced the paper seeking the 
Board’s views on supporting the mandatory display of food hygiene ratings 
as well as the Food Standards Agency’s discussion on its regulatory 
strategy. 
 
The scheme is currently mandatory in Wales and soon to be so in 
Northern Ireland. All councils in England are now part of the scheme. The 
Food Standards Agency believe that mandatory display within the scheme 
will help to improve food hygiene / public health and reduce the negative 
impact of foodborne illness. The FSA’s preferred option is that businesses 
are charged for revisits where they are unhappy with a rating. The Welsh 
legislation requires the cost of this to be reasonable; Welsh local 
authorities have determined this at £150 per inspection. 
 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
 

 

Members made a number of comments in relation to the paper: 
 

 the New Zealand model of self-policing should be explored further; 

 there was support for the scheme being mandatory, this should 
also apply to online and market stalls; 

 the need for enforcement to ensure businesses were not 
displaying higher ratings than they achieved. 

 
Members were also supportive of introducing an upfront registration fee 
before food businesses can start trading. Members felt the fees should be 
set locally to allow flexibility for new businesses and local variation. The 
fees should be paid to the local authority who carries out the inspection 
and not where the company is registered. 
 
Decision: 
 
The Board agreed to endorse recommendation four, that the LGA 
publically endorses mandatory display of food hygiene ratings. The Board 
also agreed to support upfront registration fees for food businesses. 
 
Action: 
 
Officers to progress taking into account members comments. 
 

5   Cyber-crime - LGA work plan 
  

 

 Mark Norris, Principal Policy Advisor, introduced the paper which updates 
the Board on LGA work to support councils in preparing for and dealing 
with the threat posed by cyber-crime. The LGA productivity team is 
working with DCLG and will be holding an event on reducing councils’ 
exposure to cyber-attacks in Spring 2016. The LGA is also launching a 
survey of members to see what type of support in the area of emergency 
planning and cyber resilience would be most effective. Members asked 
that training for elected councillors also be included on the programme. 
 
Mark Norris also updated members on the work the LGA was doing 
around the Investigatory Powers Bill and ensuring that councils having 
access to communications data. The LGA is lobbying parliamentarians to 
raise awareness of why local authorities need access to such data. 
  
Decision: 
 
The Board agreed to the programme of work outlined in the paper. 
 
Action: 
 
Officers to circulate details of the joint LGA-CLG event about cyber 
security. 
 
Officers to progress work programme taking into account members 
comments. 
 
 
 

 

Page 34

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
 

 

6   Complaints about Police and Crime Commissioners - draft LGA 
consultation response 
  

 

 Ellie Greenwood, Senior Advisor, introduced the paper seeking the 
Board’s views on key issues around the handling of complaints about 
Police and Crime Commissioners by Police and Crime Panels (PCPs).  
 
The consultation proposes a number of measures including: developing 
guidance on what constitutes a complaint; whether PCPs should be 
subject to the Nolan Principles of public life and measures to handle 
persistent and vexatious complaints. 
 
The consultation also proposes giving PCPs the power to appoint 
someone to investigate a complaint, removing the restriction on panels 
investigating complaints. The governments preferred option is that this be 
the PCC’s monitoring officer. Members felt there should be flexibility on 
who panels are able to appoint, but felt that utilising groups of council 
monitoring officers might overcome resourcing constraints. 
 
Decision: 
 
The Board approved the draft response. 
 
Action: 
 
Officers to progress taking into account members comments. 
 

 

7   Government Consultation on cremation following recent inquiries 
into infant cremations 
  

 

 This item was taken out of order and was considered after item two.  
 
Lucy Ellender, Advisor, introduced the paper which set out the draft 
response to the Ministry of Justice’s consultation into infant cremation, and 
made a number of recommendations for the future of cremation services.  
 
The Board welcomed the report and agreed the LGA should play a role on 
the national working group. Members did not think there was a need for a 
national inspector role, instead they felt this could be addressed using a 
Code of Practice with inspections carried out by Trading Standards.  
 
Action: 
 
Officers to progress taking into account the Board’s views.  
 
Decision: 
 
Members agreed the LGA’s response to the Government’s consultation on 
infant cremation. 
 

 

8   Update report 
  

 

 Mark Norris, Principal Policy Advisor, introduced the paper which provides  

Page 35

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
 

 

an update on LGA policy work and developments affecting the priorities 
agreed by the Board. 
 
Members asked about the event the LGA will be hosting jointly with the 
Department of Communities and Local Government and the Home Office 
about domestic abuse. The event will be looking at how service provision 
for domestic abuse victims can be improved, and what support might be 
available at a national level to assist authorities in the future. 
 
Cllr Kay Hammond, Deputy Chair of the Fire Services Management 
Committee, raised the Policing and Crime Bill in reference to the proposed 
changes to the governance of Fire and Rescue Authorities. Where the 
Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) does not take on governance for 
the fire and rescue service they can be given a place on the Fire and 
Rescue Authority (FRA) where they request it, though the council(s) 
involved can refuse the request. Cllr Hammond highlighted the impact this 
could have on authorities which are also the FRA. 
 
Members asked that the letter from the Chair, Cllr Brett as the Board’s 
champion with responsibility for FGM, and Javed Khan, Chief Executive of 
Barnardo’s wrote to the relevant Minister at the Department of Education 
along with the Chair of the Children and Young People’s Board in 
December be circulated. 
 
Decision: 
 
Members noted the activities outlined. 
 
Action: 
 
Officers to circulate the letter sent to the Department of Education. 
 

9   Notes of previous meeting 
  

 

 Members agreed the notes of the meeting held on 7 December 2015 as 
correct.  
 

 

 
Appendix A -Attendance  

 
Position/Role Councillor Authority 
   
Chairman Cllr Simon Blackburn Blackpool Council 
Vice-Chairman Cllr Morris Bright Hertsmere Borough Council 
Members Cllr Nick Daubney King's Lynn & West Norfolk Borough Council 
 Cllr Thomas Fox Scarborough Borough Council 
 Cllr Joanna Gardner Kensington and Chelsea Royal Borough 

Council 
 Cllr Ian Gillies City of York Council 
 Cllr Mike Connolly Bury Metropolitan Borough Council 
 Cllr Janet Daby Lewisham London Borough Council 
 Cllr Kate Haigh Gloucester City Council 
 Cllr Tony Page Reading Borough Council 
 Cllr Sophie Linden Hackney London Borough Council 

Page 36

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
 

 

Cllr Joy Allen Durham County Council  
 Cllr Anita Lower Newcastle upon Tyne City Council 
 Cllr Colin Mann 

Cllr Goronwy Edwards 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Conwy County Borough Council  

 Cllr Jo Beavis 
Cllr Marcus Jones 
Cllr Chris Pillai 

Braintree District Council 
Lincolnshire County Council  
Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council  

 
In Attendance Cllr Chris Pillai Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council  
   
Observer  Cllr Kay Hammond Surrey County Council  
   
Apologies Cllr Michael Payne Gedling Borough Council 
 Cllr Nick Worth South Holland District Council 
 Cllr Lisa Brett Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 Cllr Philip Evans JP Conwy County Borough Council 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 8





Exploring area-based vulnerability 
to gambling-related harm:  
Developing the gambling-related  
harm risk index
Heather Wardle, Gaynor Astbury,  
Mark Thurstain-Goodwin & Si Parker

9th February 2016

Page 39

Agenda Annex



  

  

1 
 

Page 40

Agenda Annex



  

Contents 

Contents ........................................................................................................................................................ 2 

Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................................... 4 

1 Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 7 

Overview of project .................................................................................................................................. 7 

Policy context ............................................................................................................................................ 8 

Increased focus on risk regulation ........................................................................................................ 9 

Local risk assessments ........................................................................................................................ 10 

Partnership working ............................................................................................................................ 11 

Devolvement of public health to LAs .................................................................................................. 12 

Contribution of our project to this policy environment ..................................................................... 12 

2 Developing the risk index models: theoretical basis .......................................................................... 14 

Overview ................................................................................................................................................. 14 

Methods .................................................................................................................................................. 14 

Consultation interviews ...................................................................................................................... 14 

Quick scoping reviews ......................................................................................................................... 15 

Definitions ............................................................................................................................................... 16 

Gambling-related harm ....................................................................................................................... 16 

Vulnerable people/vulnerable to gambling-related harm .................................................................. 17 

Evidence and risk ................................................................................................................................ 17 

Who is vulnerable? Findings from phase 1 ............................................................................................. 18 

Stakeholder perceptions ..................................................................................................................... 18 

Who is vulnerable? Findings from the scoping reviews ..................................................................... 19 

Characteristics of vulnerability included in the risk models ............................................................... 21 

3 Developing the risk index models: modelling and spatial analysis ..................................................... 22 

Introduction to vulnerability/risk index models ..................................................................................... 22 

Our modelling approach ......................................................................................................................... 25 

Overview ............................................................................................................................................. 25 

Characteristics included in the models ............................................................................................... 25 

Datasets .................................................................................................................................................. 29 

2 
 

Page 41

Agenda Annex



  

Selecting datasets ............................................................................................................................... 29 

Datasets used .......................................................................................................................................... 30 

Spatial analysis techniques ..................................................................................................................... 43 

Raster overlay analysis and tree-based models .................................................................................. 43 

Modelling factors and equations used ............................................................................................... 47 

Weighting ............................................................................................................................................ 48 

Why weight? ....................................................................................................................................... 48 

Weighting scheme used in this model ................................................................................................ 48 

Study area comparisons .......................................................................................................................... 52 

Input dataset modelling .......................................................................................................................... 53 

Surface representations ...................................................................................................................... 53 

Kernel Density Estimations (KDE) ....................................................................................................... 54 

KDE parameters .............................................................................................................................. 55 

Local Authority boundary edge effects ........................................................................................... 56 

Known error margins and model limitations .......................................................................................... 56 

4 Results ................................................................................................................................................. 58 

Interpreting the results ........................................................................................................................... 58 

Manchester ............................................................................................................................................. 60 

Westminster ............................................................................................................................................ 71 

5 Key themes .......................................................................................................................................... 85 

Policy context .......................................................................................................................................... 85 

Variation in risk by place ......................................................................................................................... 85 

Benefits of approach ............................................................................................................................... 86 

Caveats .................................................................................................................................................... 87 

Recommendations .................................................................................................................................. 88 

References .................................................................................................................................................. 90 

Appendix 1 .................................................................................................................................................. 93 

 

 

3 
 

Page 42

Agenda Annex



  

Executive Summary 

Background 

• In the Gambling Act 2005, children, the young and the vulnerable are singled out for 
special regulatory attention, with the aim that they should be protected from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling. 

• From April 2016 all industry operators have to undertake local area risk assessments to 
explore what risks gambling venues pose to the licensing objectives, including the 
protection of young and vulnerable people. 

• To date, there has been very little examination of who is vulnerable to gambling-related 
harm, how these people can be identified and what might be done to protect them. 

Aims of this study 

• The first aim of this study was to consider the types of people who may be at greater 
risk of harm from gambling and where they might be located. Based on review of 
existing research evidence, a previous report (called Exploring area based-vulnerability 
to harm: who is vulnerable?) concluded that youths, those affected by substance abuse / 
misuse / excessive alcohol consumption, poorer mental health, those living in deprived 
areas, from certain ethnic groups, those with low IQs, personality/cognitive 
impairments, those seeking treatment for gambling problems and those who are 
unemployed are potentially more vulnerable to harm from gambling. 

• Having identified these groups, this report brings this information together to create 
local risk indices, showing areas with greater concentrations of people who are more 
likely to be vulnerable to harm. 

• Commissioned by Westminster and Manchester City Councils, this study used 
Westminster and Manchester as case study areas to develop local risk indices of 
gambling-related harm. 

Methods 

• For each characteristic of vulnerability identified, the availability of local level data was 
reviewed. For some characteristics, there were good data available (for example, 
unemployment rates from census records). For others there were no data available 

4 
 

Page 43

Agenda Annex



  

(such as low IQ). Therefore, the final characteristics of vulnerability included in our 
models were those where there was a strong theoretical and empirical basis for 
inclusion and good local level data available. 

• Information from all different characteristics was brought together and visually 
displayed. Data were grouped into two different indices based on whether they related 
to: 

• the characteristics of people who live in a local area (the resident profile) and/or, 
• the location of local services which are likely to attract potentially vulnerable 

people to a specific place.  

• Data from the two indices were then combined to produce an overall gambling risk 
index for each area. These results were displayed visually on maps for Westminster and 
Manchester to highlight the locations which had relatively higher risk profiles. 

Results 

• In Westminster, four broad areas of greater risk were identified. These are those to the 
north west of Westminster, around the Harrow Road, to the south, around Victoria and 
Pimlico, north-central areas around Paddington and the Edgware road and finally, the 
West End. The heightened risk in each area is driven by a range of different factors. For 
example, in Pimlico risk is higher because of a greater number of homelessness shelters 
and substance abuse treatment providers in this area. In the North West area, risk is 
driven by rates of unemployment, ethnic make-up and large numbers of resident young 
people. 

• In Manchester, there are many different areas of risk which include areas around the 
city centre and the south of the city; around Rushholme and Longsight and an area 
around Cheetham. Risk in the city centre is driven primarily by the concentration of pay-
day loans shops, education establishments, younger residents and support centres for 
problem gamblers. Relatively high levels of unemployment as well as ethnic mix are 
major driving factors in the other locations. 

• Comparisons of the areas identified by our risk models with data on deprivation shows 
some overlaps but also some differences. For example, the City of Manchester has a 
relatively low score according to the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) but was 
identified as higher risk of gambling harm in our models. This is because there are a 
range of services offered within the city that may draw potentially vulnerable people 
into the city centre. This is not represented in IMD scores which focus only on the profile 

5 
 

Page 44

Agenda Annex



  

of people living in an area. Because of this we believe IMD is not a sufficient proxy to 
represent risk to gambling-related harm at a local level. 

Caveats 

• Our models are probabilistic. Just because we have highlighted an area as being at 
greater risk, does not mean that all people in those areas will experience harm.  

• Our models are based on current knowledge and available data. There were a number 
of potentially vulnerable groups (such as immigrants or those on probation) who were 
excluded from our models because of a lack of local level data. Our models are limited 
to areas where more research has been conducted and where good quality local level 
data are available.   

• Finally, the evidence base used to develop the models shows those vulnerable to 
gambling problems rather than gambling-related harm. The models may be conservative 
as gambling-related harm is broader than problem gambling.  

Recommendations 

• The Gambling Commission’s introduction of Local Area Risk profiles represents a new 
opportunity for Local Authorities (LA) and industry alike to think more deeply about the 
protection of vulnerable people from gambling-related harm. This means extending 
understanding of local area risk beyond mapping deprivation and considering a more 
nuanced range of factors. 

• LAs interested in pursuing this approach should start to consider the different types of 
data they have available and how these can be used in local area profiles. 

• LAs should also start to consider what data and/or evidence is missing and how they 
could fill these gaps, working with different departments within the authority to capture 
relevant information. 

• The models developed are based on the best information currently available. An 
acknowledged limitation of gambling research is the paucity of evidence available. We 
recommend that the models developed for this project are periodically reviewed and 
updated to take into account growing knowledge, better data and changes in local 
areas. 

 

6 
 

Page 45

Agenda Annex



  

1 Introduction 

Overview of project 

This project aims to explore area-based vulnerability to gambling-related harm, incorporating 
all types of gambling activity. Gambling behaviour and who experiences harm from gambling 
vary among different types of people. This variation is the result of characteristics relating to 
the person, such as their age or gender, those relating to personal circumstances, such as 
employment or income, and those relating to where people live, such as deprived areas. The 
political landscape in which gambling is provided and regulated will also have an effect. 

The Gambling Act 2005 states that children and vulnerable people should be protected from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling. Yet to date, there has been little investigation about 
who may be vulnerable or why. Furthermore, how vulnerability and harm may vary at a local 
level has not been explored. This project aims to help fill this gap by: 

• exploring and documenting the range of characteristics that suggest someone is 
vulnerable to harm from gambling, 

• investigating how these characteristics can be measured at a local level, using a range of 
different data, and 

• developing local area risk indices to show areas where those who may be more 
vulnerable to harm are located. 

We have previously published a scoping report highlighting the kinds of people and/or 
characteristics that may mean someone is more vulnerable to gambling-related harm.1 This 
current report builds on that work and looks at how we can use this insight to explore 
vulnerability at a local level, using a variety of local level data. Commissioned by Westminster 
and Manchester City Councils, we have worked with them to model area-based vulnerability to 
gambling-related harm. The resulting indices are displayed visually on maps for each region so 
that areas of potential risk are highlighted. This report outlines the methodology we used to 
create the local area risk indices and discusses the results. Our previous report sets out the 
theory underpinning the development of the indices. 

 

1 See Wardle, H (2015a) Exploring area-based vulnerability to gambling-related harm: Who is vulnerable? Evidence 
from a quick scoping review. London: Westminster. Available at: 
http://transact.westminster.gov.uk/docstores/publications_store/licensing/final_phase1_exploring_area-
based_vulnerability_and_gambling_related_harm_report_v2.pdf 

7 
 

                                                           

Page 46

Agenda Annex



  

Policy context 

The Gambling Act 2005 (the Act) gave Local Authorities (LAs) responsibility for issuing premises 
licences for gambling venues. The advice contained within the Act was that LAs should “aim to 
permit” premises licences so long as applications are reasonably consistent with the following 
objectives: 

(a) preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support crime, 
(b) ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, and  
(c) protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling.  

More recently, there have been some changes in the recommended approach to gambling 
licensing and regulation, as expressed in various documents published by the Gambling 
Commission (GC, see GC, 2015; GC, 2012). These changes can be summarised into three broad 
themes: 

• increased focus on risk and risk regulation; 
• greater attention to local area risk, and 
• encouragement of partnership and collaboration between stakeholders to mitigate risk. 

In addition, a further change is the devolvement of public health to LAs and their new 
responsibility to protect the health and wellbeing of people in their local communities (see 
Figure 1). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8 
 

Page 47

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 1: Policy context for this project  

 

Increased focus on risk regulation 

A risk-based approach to regulation has been a key part of the GC’s principles for licensing and 
regulation since 2009, meaning that resources are concentrated where they are needed most 
and can be most effective (GC, 2009; 2015). Greater pursuit and clearer demonstration of this 
risk-based approach was a key recommendation of the Culture, Media and Sport Select 
Committee inquiry into the impact of the Gambling Act (DCMS, 2012). This renewed emphasis 
on risk-based regulation can be seen in the GC’s revised Licensing Conditions and Codes of 
Practice (LCCP) which encourages industry to consider the risk that their venues pose to the 
licensing objectives and to take appropriate action. This focus is underpinned by the GC’s 
encouragement that stakeholders, including industry and local government, better consider 
risk, look at future risks and think about risk in a probabilistic way: 

 “Risk is not necessarily related to an event that has happened. Risk is related to the 
 probability of an event happening and the likely impact of that event – in this case on 
 licensing objectives” (GC, 2015)  

This focus is important especially when it comes to thinking about evidence-based policy and 
action as it highlights the importance of thinking probabilistically about risk. Here the onus is 
not to prove that action one way or another will have a certain effect or outcome but rather to 

9 
 

Page 48

Agenda Annex



  

think about the likely impacts that could happen, given what is known about a local area, and to 
think about the likelihood of these outcomes occurring. In short, it changes the burden of proof 
away from demonstrating that certain actions will have a stated outcome towards thinking that 
they may have certain outcomes because of a variety of influences. As some academics have 
noted, this shift in focus “allows regulators to make decisions based on what they do know 
rather than what they don’t” (Philips & Goodman, 2004). 

 

Local risk assessments 

Greater focus on risk and probabilistic thinking arguably underpins the GC’s new requirement 
that gambling industry operators should (from April 2016) conduct local risk assessments. The 
assessments are required for all premises and operators need to demonstrate that they 
understand local issues and show what measures they propose to introduce or currently have 
to mitigate against this risk (see Box 1).  

 

 

 

Box 1: The new provisions for local risk assessment in the LCCP, 2015  

Social responsibility code provision 10.1.1 
Assessing local risk 
All non-remote casino, adult gaming centre, bingo, family entertainment centre, betting and remote 
betting intermediary (trading room only) licences, except non-remote general betting (limited) and betting 
intermediary licences. 
 
This provision comes into force on 6 April 2016 

1. Licensees must assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provisions of 
gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies, procedures and control 
measures to mitigate those risks. In making risk assessments, licencees must take into account 
relevant matters identified in the licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy. 

2. Licensees must review (and update as necessary) their local risk assessments: 
a. to take into account significant changes in local circumstances, including those identified in 

a licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy; 
b. when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect their mitigation 

of local risks; 
c. when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and 
d. in any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new premises licence. 

10 
 

Page 49

Agenda Annex



  

The GC has also recommended that LAs consider producing local area profiles to support their 
licensing statements and principles. The intention is that these local area profiles draw on 
information from a wide range of local bodies to further understand the nature of potential 
risks in each LA and to develop more locally focused gambling policy: 

“We are encouraging LAs to move away from a national template [of Statement of Licensing 
Principles] to something that is genuinely reflective of local issues, local data, local risk… The 
experts are each LA. They know their patch better than anyone. And of course they should 
engage with both responsible authorities such as the Safeguarding Board, the police and others 
as well as other expert bodies such as perhaps public health, mental health, housing as well as 
community groups who have a particular knowledge of parts of the area and the population of 
the area.” (GC, 2015) 

The GC are recommending that local area profiles are built into LAs revised Statements of 
Licensing Policy, due to be implemented from January 2016. The emphasis for understanding 
local risk is therefore incumbent on both the gambling operator and the LA.  

 

Partnership working 

The introduction of local risk assessments into the LCCP reflects a broader policy movement 
which encourages LAs, the regulator and the industry to work in partnership to address local 
issues and concerns. This form of partnership working was enshrined within the Local 
Government Association’s and the Association of British Bookmakers’ Framework for Local 
Partnerships on Betting Shops. This framework recognised there are local concerns about 
betting shops and their impact. It drew on practice from alcohol licensing and local partnerships 
between the alcohol trade and communities to suggest a range of ways that industry, LAs, 
community safety teams, and the police could work together to address concerns. Suggestions 
included setting up local Betwatch schemes, as has been done in Ealing, or creating other 
bespoke solutions to deal with issues, like the responsible gambling partnership set up in 
Medway. 

The GC is keen to see this form of partnership working extended. Part of the rationale for local 
area risk assessments is so that operators and LAs can work together to establish a range of 
practices that may mitigate potential harms in certain areas.   

 

 

 

11 
 

Page 50

Agenda Annex



  

Devolvement of public health to LAs 

A final important policy change is the devolvement of public health to LAs. The Health and 
Social Care Act, 2012 gave responsibility for health improvement to the LA. This gave each LA a 
new duty to take appropriate steps to improve the health of people in its area. Under this 
provision, new Directors of Public Health were appointed and units created to support the new 
public health functions of LAs. The intention was for LAs to have freedom to choose how they 
improve their population’s health and it was hoped that this would create a new focus on 
improving health and reducing inequalities. These changes are important as gambling is often 
considered a public health issue. The Responsible Gambling Strategy Board (RGSB), the body 
responsible for providing advice to the GC and government about gambling, advocates that 
gambling be considered within a public health framework. Other jurisdictions, like New 
Zealand, have gone further and defined gambling as a public health consideration with policy 
responsibility residing with the Department of Health.  

In Great Britain, policy responsibility for gambling continues to be held by the Department for 
Culture, Media and Sport. However, devolvement of responsibility for public health to LAs may 
mean that increasing health focus is given to local gambling policy. This is most likely to occur in 
relation to the third licensing objective of the Act, which states that vulnerable people should 
be protected from harm. Who ‘vulnerable people’ are or the ways in which they may be 
vulnerable is not defined, though the GC states that for regulatory purposes it is likely to 
include: 

 “people who gamble more than they want to, people who gamble beyond their means 
 and people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 
 gambling due to, for example, mental health, a learning disability or substance misuse 
 relating to alcohol or drugs.” (GC, 2012) 

There is clear overlap with people of interest to public health policy makers and practitioners, 
namely those with mental health problems, other health issues and substance misuse 
problems. As the public health function within LAs matures, it is likely that gambling issues and 
protection of the vulnerable may increasingly fall within their remit. However, this broader 
policy shift has not occurred to date and it is noticeable the GC’s consultation on LAs’ revised 
Statements of Licensing Policy did not include any reference to public health.  

 

Contribution of our project to this policy environment 

It is against this policy and regulatory background that this project has been commissioned (see 
Figure 1). Our research explores what area-based vulnerability to gambling-related harm looks 

12 
 

Page 51

Agenda Annex



  

like and how it can be visualised geographically, focusing on Westminster and Manchester.  By 
conducting spatial analysis and producing maps that highlight areas where those who are more 
vulnerable to harm may be present, we provide Westminster, Manchester and the industry 
tools to help understand local area risks.  We hope these tools can be used as the basis for 
developing strategies and partnerships to address risk to the third licensing objective – that is 
the protection of vulnerable people. 

 

Structure of this report 

In this report we outline our methodology for producing the local area risk indices and results 
for Westminster and Manchester respectively. Chapter 2 gives an overview of the theoretical 
basis of model development, which is discussed more fully in our first report (see Wardle, 
2015a).  Chapter 3 discusses the development of the models, including an overview of the 
spatial analysis methods used. Chapter 4 presents results for Manchester and Westminster 
whilst Chapter 5 summarises key themes from this research.  

13 
 

Page 52

Agenda Annex



  

2 Developing the risk index models: theoretical 
basis 

Overview 

In order to develop indices of risk to gambling-related harm, it was first important to establish 
the theoretical and empirical basis of the models. This included a process of consultation and 
evidence assessment to understand who may be more vulnerable to gambling-related 
problems and why. The resulting information was used as the basis for our models, which 
included assessment of what local data were available. The factors present in the final indices 
are those that have a strong theoretical and/or empirical basis and good quality data available 
at the local level.  

 

Methods 

Consultation interviews 

To develop the theoretical basis of our risk models, we first had to establish which types of 
people were viewed as vulnerable to, or at risk of, gambling-related harm. This was done by 
consulting with a range of different stakeholders, which included: 

• academics, 
• policy makers, 
• treatment providers, 
• the industry, and 
• legal professionals. 

These stakeholders are those who are responsible for either creating or responding to gambling 
policy in Great Britain, translating perceptions into practice. Therefore, understanding the 
perceptions of these stakeholders was important since their views are highly salient to how we 
understand concepts of harm, risk and vulnerability in policy terms more generally. 

Semi-structured interviews were conducted either one to one or within a group setting. Each 
interview discussed the following: 

• definitions of gambling-related harm, who is harmed, why and how, and; 

14 
 

Page 53

Agenda Annex



  

• who might be vulnerable to gambling-related harm, how and whether this has changed. 

In addition, standards of evidence used in gambling policy were also discussed.  

 

Quick scoping reviews 

For each person type identified as being at risk or characteristic of vulnerability mentioned by 
stakeholders, quick scoping reviews (QSR) were conducted to see whether research evidence 
supported these perceptions. QSRs are a methodology recommended by the Government 
Social Research Office.2 They are used to quickly determine the range of studies that are 
available on a specific topic and produce a broad ‘map’ of the existing literature (see Wardle, 
2015a for more details). 

To help synthesise results, the research evidence was evaluated using the following criteria: 

1) Is the relationship plausible; does it make sense? 
2) Is the relationship coherent with existing knowledge? 
3) Is the relationship consistent over space and time? If not, what are the contextual 

factors that explain why not? 
4) How strong is the relationship?  
5) What are the alternative explanations? 
6) Is there analogous evidence from similar policy areas?3 

Assessing the evidence base using this framework allowed us to make judgements about how 
strongly supported each characteristic of vulnerability/risk was. We then used this information 
to make informed decisions about which features should be included in our models. 

 

 

 

 

2 See http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/networks/gsr/resources-and-guidance/rapid-evidence-assessment/what-is 
3 This framework of assessment draws on the work of Austin Bradford-Hill and his method for assessing causal 
relationships in epidemiology. See Hill, B (1965). 

15 
 

                                                           

Page 54

Agenda Annex



  

 

Definitions 

Before considering the evidence relating to who is vulnerable to, or at risk of, gambling-related 
harm, it is worth considering how we define these terms.  

 

Gambling-related harm 

Among policy makers in Great Britain, gambling-related harm is defined as: 

“the adverse financial, personal and social consequences to players, their families and 
wider social networks that can be caused by uncontrolled gambling” (RGSB, 2009) 

Policy makers also focus on: 

 “the shorter-term harms brought about by short-term bouts of intensive gambling, 
 which may require a different preventative approach” (RGSB, 2009) 

In keeping with this, the stakeholders interviewed generally viewed gambling-related harm as 
something that could be temporary and episodic or exist over a longer time frame. There was a 
broad consensus that gambling-related harm meant adverse consequences from gambling and 
that these harms could be experienced by the individual, their families, social networks and by 
communities. 

In academic literature, gambling-related harm is often conflated with problem gambling, yet 
the stakeholders interviewed generally felt that the two were distinct. It was felt that you did 
not have to be a problem gambler to experience harm but that most problem gamblers would 
experience harms from their gambling. Finally, it was argued that the types of harms 
experienced were likely to exist on a spectrum, for example, ranging from arguments with 
spouses to relationship breakdown.  

The term ‘gambling-related harm’ is relatively new in policy and academic circles and there is a 
limited evidence base assessing it. The term has not been adequately defined and research 
evidence tends to focus on problem and at-risk gambling as a proxy for this. As such, evidence 
identified in the scoping reviews related more to ‘problem’ gambling rather than broader harms 
or harm to others. This is an acknowledged constraint of this study and thus our models. 
However, given stakeholders’ views that people experiencing problems with gambling would 
almost certainly be experiencing harm, we are confident that this literature is appropriate to 

16 
 

Page 55

Agenda Annex



  

understanding one aspect of harm. It does mean that our indices are likely to be conservative 
as they focus on risk of gambling problems rather than broader harms. 

 

Vulnerable people/vulnerable to gambling-related harm 

Vulnerable people have been singled out for special regulatory attention in gambling policy. 
This is because the Gambling Act’s third licensing objective specifically states that vulnerable 
people should be protected from being harmed or exploited by gambling. The Gambling 
Commission has stated that whilst they did not want to explicitly define who vulnerable people 
are, this is likely to include people who gamble more than they want to (GC, 2012). 

Prior to this, the Gambling Review Report (known as the Budd report) suggested a range of 
groups who they felt could be considered vulnerable to harm. This included young people, 
those under the influence of drugs/alcohol, those with co-existing mental health conditions, 
low income groups and those most disadvantaged and marginalised by economic change 
(DCMS, 2001). 

In our previous report, we highlighted how many stakeholders felt that anyone could be 
vulnerable to gambling-related harm. The experience of harm was seen as subjective, whereby 
negative consequences depended on individual circumstances and experiences. It was argued 
that anyone, under certain circumstances, could become vulnerable to harm. However, it was 
also recognised that these personal circumstances would not necessarily be known to 
regulators and gambling operators and therefore one had to think more probabilistically about 
who might be vulnerable. This included thinking about the types of people who may be more 
likely to experience or be susceptible to gambling-related harm. This approach recognises that 
not everyone with a certain characteristic will experience harm if they gamble, but rather that 
they may have an elevated risk of harm because of their characteristics or circumstances. Our 
risk indices draw on these assumptions. It is a risk-based, probabilistic, approach to 
understanding vulnerability. 

 

Evidence and risk 

This project explicitly acknowledges that the experience of gambling-related harm and 
vulnerability to gambling-related harm are, at the individual level, inherently subjective. 
However, data and evidence have highlighted generalities and patterns that give us confidence 
that we can take a risk-based approach to exploring area-level vulnerability to gambling-related 
harm. The generalities observed mean that whilst we may not know the exact mechanisms or 

17 
 

Page 56

Agenda Annex



  

contexts which shape behaviour, we can identify characteristics of heightened risk (Carter & 
New, 2004). As these risk characteristics belong to people, there is likely to be local area 
variation in potential vulnerability to harm based on how the profile of people in different 
locations varies. 

Taking a more probabilistic approach to assessing risk requires a changing way of thinking 
about evidence and what it means. When looking for generalities, we are observing patterns. 
These patterns are informative as they highlight the potential presence of a range of causal 
processes (Carter & New, 2004). The association itself should not be viewed deterministically, 
whereby x causes y, but rather more generatively where x may generate y outcome under a, b, 
or c circumstances (Pawson & Tilly, 1997; Wardle, 2015b). This approach reflects the 
uncertainty of subjective experiences whilst recognising there are general patterns and 
associations that we can observe and use in our models, without having full knowledge of the 
exact contexts and mechanisms that shape outcomes for each individual. In this way, our 
models are not saying that everyone in a certain area or with certain characteristics will be at 
risk, but rather they may have elevated levels of risk. 

Because people and places vary, this potential risk varies, and our models seek to identify the 
spatial variation of risk and visualise this on a map. 

 

Who is vulnerable? Findings from phase 1 

Stakeholder perceptions 

From stakeholder interviews, common themes around who stakeholders felt might be 
vulnerable to gambling-related harm were identified. These were: 

1) those with constrained social and economic circumstances. This tended to include those 
living in deprived areas, those who were unemployed, those with low income but also 
those experiencing social isolation or more uncertain social circumstances, for example 
homeless populations, offenders and migrants;  

2) those with certain demographic characteristics. This included the young but also other 
characteristics such as gender and ethnicity – though it was broadly accepted that these 
characteristics may serve as a proxy for other mechanisms. For example, older people 
were mentioned but the mechanisms articulated around age related to social isolation, 
or the experience of common life events, such as bereavement and/or having low fixed 
incomes; 

18 
 

Page 57

Agenda Annex



  

3) those who may have poorer judgement. This ranged from people with certain mental 
health conditions, those with learning disabilities or low educational attainment, to 
those with temporary impairment or longer term difficulties because of substance 
use/misuse, and; 

4) other groups, such as problem gamblers seeking treatment or those with substance 
abuse/misuse issues. 

For each characteristic or group mentioned, a scoping review assessed whether stakeholder 
perceptions were supported by empirical evidence or not.  Those characteristics or groups 
found to be well supported by evidence or to have strong theoretical importance were then 
identified as candidates for inclusion in our risk indices. Our first report discusses the methods 
and findings in greater depth (see Wardle, 2015a). In the sections that follow, we outline key 
themes only. 

 

Who is vulnerable? Findings from the scoping reviews 

Figure 2 shows the full range of people/characteristics of people which stakeholders felt 
indicated increased vulnerability/risk to gambling-related harm. The characteristics which are 
shaded in dark grey show where the scoping reviews indicated that there was good evidence 
that these characteristics are associated with higher risk of harm. Those shaded in lighter grey 
are those where the scoping reviews showed emerging evidence of higher risk of harm. The 
remaining characteristics are those where either the evidence was mixed or there was no 
evidence (as yet) to support them (fuller details can be found in our first report, see Wardle, 
2015a). 

  

19 
 

Page 58

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 2:  People vulnerable to gambling-related harm, by theme  

 

As can be seen from Figure 2, there was good evidence to support young people, those who are 
unemployed, those from certain ethnic groups, such as Asian/Asian British, Black/Black British 
and Chinese/other ethnicity, those living in deprived areas, those with low IQs, those with 
substance abuse/misuse issues or under the influence of alcohol or drugs, existing problem 
gamblers (especially those seeking treatment), those with poor mental health and, finally, with 
certain personality traits (i.e., cognitive impairments, impulsivity) as being potentially more 
vulnerable to gambling-related harm. For those who are homeless or who are immigrants, 
there were some research studies highlighting these as potentially vulnerable groups. For 
example, for homelessness, there was only one British based study and for immigrants there 
were no British based studies, though some pertinent international literature. Therefore, these 
were classified as emerging areas. For learning disabilities, there was a small body of work 
highlighting this as a risk factor for boys but not girls4, though none of this evidence was 
generated from Great Britain. Financial difficulties and debt had some emerging evidence from 
Britain to support these groups as potentially vulnerable. Finally, there was no or little evidence 
that older people or women should be considered especially vulnerable. However, we 

4 This literature only focuses on the experiences of young people. 

20 
 

                                                           

Page 59

Agenda Annex



  

recognise that these groups may experience social change and that themes of gambling to 
relieve social isolation may affect these groups more than others. The evidence relating to low 
educational attainment and low income was mixed, though we also acknowledged that these 
may be used as proxies for other related characteristics, such as low IQ or experience of 
financial difficulties. Finally, it is highly plausible that those on probation or parole may be 
considered vulnerable to gambling-related harm. There is some research which has 
demonstrated a link between gambling problems and incarceration. There is other research 
highlighting gambling cultures within prisons. However, the scoping reviews found that little 
research had been conducted among those on parole or probation in the community. 
Therefore, for the purposes of trying to identify vulnerable groups at a community level, this 
characteristic has no evidence base, as yet, supporting it. 

 

Characteristics of vulnerability included in the risk models 

The characteristics considered for inclusion in our local area models were those with either 
good evidence or strong emerging evidence to support each one. However, to be included in 
the final models we also needed to have good quality local level data representing each. This 
means that not all the characteristics shown in Figure 2 are included in our final models. In 
some cases, we have used what we consider to be reasonable proxies (for example, problem 
gambling treatment clinics to demonstrate that people with existing gambling problems will be 
present in a local area). Chapter 3 documents this process fully.  

Finally, a key theme of the scoping reviews was the general paucity of evidence for many 
characteristics (like those on probation). Therefore, whilst the models documented in this 
report draws on existing evidence and theory, it should be considered open to change as the 
evidence base develops. In fact, we would encourage that the models are regularly reviewed 
and amended to take into account emerging research and insight. 

21 
 

Page 60

Agenda Annex



  

3 Developing the risk index models: modelling and 
spatial analysis 

Introduction to vulnerability/risk index models 

Using spatial indices to display areas of greater vulnerability or risk to a certain outcome is a 
well recognised technique. This typically involves drawing together relevant sets of information 
to model area vulnerability based on a variety of characteristics. These models have been most 
commonly used to model risk to environmental hazards. A good example is work by Cutter et al 
(2003) who used data on housing stock and tenancy, income, ethnicity, housing density, 
personal wealth and infrastructure to create a social vulnerability model, highlighting areas in 
the USA of least resilience if faced with an environmental hazard. This model included aspects 
that might increase social vulnerability (like a higher proportion of mobile homes, which are 
very vulnerable to environmental hazards because they are not very sturdy) and those which 
may mitigate social vulnerability (for example, low debt to revenue income meaning that these 
areas could divert resources to dealing with an environmental hazard more easily). This work 
has been expanded upon and replicated in other countries.  

More recently, social scientists have started to explore how similar methods could be used to 
investigate vulnerability to other social, health and wellbeing risks. For example, scholars have 
examined how vulnerability to childhood obesity varies across different parts of Texas. To do 
this, the researchers included measures of median income, proximity to fast food restaurants, 
ethnicity, proximity to grocery stores and parks in their models. Each characteristic was 
modelled separately and then combined to create an overall vulnerability index, showing the 
areas at greater risk of childhood obesity (MacBrayer, 2010).  Other studies have looked at 
ecological risk factors for substance abuse treatment in Buffalo, New York (Mendoza et al, 
2013). In this study, a range of risk factors associated with treatment outcomes for substance 
abuse were modelled at low level geographies. This included socio-economic risk factors, such 
as unemployment, relative poverty, age and female head of household status which are known 
to be associated with poorer treatment outcomes. It also included a physical environment 
domain, comprised of access to alcohol outlets and a mediating factor of presence of substance 
abuse clinics. This information was brought together into a single risk index to highlight areas 
with a greater risk of failed treatment outcomes. A key finding was that looking at individual 
risks alone masked broader patterns and inequalities. Mendoza et al (2013) recommended 
looking at multiple risk factors together. We drew similar conclusions in our previous report, 

22 
 

Page 61

Agenda Annex



  

where we highlighted the complexity range of risk factors to gambling harm and stated that a 
multiple risk factor approach may be useful (Wardle, 2015a). 

Using risk or vulnerability indices to understand and explore environmental aspects of 
behaviour is an expanding area of research and policy interest. In Britain, this is likely to 
become even more important now that LAs have responsibility for planning and development, 
gambling premises licensing, safeguarding vulnerable people and protecting the health of the 
public.  

The risk models presented in this report are not the first produced by gambling researchers. 
Studies from Canada and Australia have attempted to quantify local area vulnerability to 
gambling harms, though there are some methodological and theoretical differences between 
these studies and ours. 

Robitaille and Herjean (2008) developed a ‘vulnerability’ index to assess the relationship 
between access to video lottery terminals (VLT) in Montreal, Canada and the vulnerability of 
the resident population within VLT venue catchments. Their methodology drew heavily on that 
used by Brent Council (London) when considering their application for a new ‘super’ casino 
license in Great Britain.5 Brent Council developed a vulnerability index to characterise the 
population in the catchment area of the proposed new casino. According to Robitaille and 
Herjean (2008) this consisted of a range of characteristics, grouped within two domains: 
demographic and economic. The characteristics included in the models were: sex, age, 
educational attainment, marital status, household income, geography (i.e., proximity to 
proposed site), ethnicity and employment status. There are some overlaps with the 
characteristics we outlined in Chapter 2, for example age, ethnicity and employment status 
feature heavily in our models and the one used by Brent Council. However, our models extend 
beyond consideration of just demographic and economic factors, to include health and 
wellbeing and other vulnerable population groups (like the homeless, for example).  

In Herjean and Robitaille’s adapted model (2008), the variables used to create their 
vulnerability index were narrowed even further to the proportion of men aged 19-44, the 
proportion of single people, the proportion of people without a high school diploma and 
average income for each local area. These were chosen as they were well known correlates of 
problems with VLT gambling. Scores for each variable were standardised and added together to 
form an overall vulnerability index score that was then mapped and visualised for the Montreal 
area. When compared with accessibility to VLT venues, Robitaille and Herjean (2008) concluded 

5 The ‘Super Casino’ was an original feature of the Gambling Act, 2005. This special casino license was to create a 
new large, resort style casino with a customer footprint of up to 5,000 sq metres and housing up to 1,250 slot 
machines. 

23 
 

                                                           

Page 62

Agenda Annex



  

that there was a spatial link to areas where the resident population was most vulnerable to the 
experience of problems.  

Herjean and Robitaille’s (2008) work mirrors the process we have undertaken for this project. 
Like them, we have sought to theoretically identify characteristics of people who may be 
vulnerable or at greater risk of experiencing problems. Once identified, we combined this 
information together to create a single risk index and displayed these results spatially. Where 
our work differs is in the scope of the characteristics and variables included – we are not 
limiting ourselves to simply considering the profile of the resident community, but are also keen 
to explore how we can include more transient population groups in our models – for example 
by looking at the types of services available in specific places that may ‘pull’ vulnerable people 
into certain spaces at particular points in time. This is discussed further in the next section. 

Further attempts to model the relationship between the catchments of gambling venues and 
area vulnerability have been undertaken in Australia. In 2010, Doran and Young used spatial 
analysis methods to explore gambling venue catchment areas and their relationship to area 
vulnerability. This analysis used the Australian equivalent of the British Index of Multiple 
Deprivation, the Socio-Economic Index for Areas (SEIA), which ranks areas in Australia based on 
relative socio-economic disadvantage. They combined this with information about gambling 
venue catchment areas and called this combined output their ‘gambling vulnerability surface’. 
The results were mapped visually. They concluded that their combined vulnerability surface had 
a different spatial distribution than if they had just used socio-economic disadvantage alone. 
This too emphasises the importance of taking a multiple risk factor approach to modelling 
gambling vulnerability; in Doran & Young’s (2010) case they included both demand (socio-
economic disadvantage) and supply (predicted catchment areas of gambling venues) side 
variables in their models.  

Rintoul et al (2012) expanded upon this work by adding gambling losses recorded at each venue 
into the model. However, socio-economic vulnerability continued to be represented by SEIA 
alone and the authors noted that this was a limitation of their model, highlighting how other 
social, cultural or geographic variables might influence machine gambling within communities. 
They recommended that future analysis build additional characteristics, such as the ethnic 
profile of areas, into their models.  

Our study builds on the insight of these international studies by extending the range of 
characteristics which represent vulnerability to gambling-related harm beyond pre-existing 
measures of deprivation and disadvantage. Our study, however, varies from the Australian 
research in one major respect. These studies included catchments of existing gambling venues 
and gambling losses at venues to examine supply side vulnerability. Our work looks only at the 
profile and characteristics of people (or demand side variables). This is because this research is 

24 
 

Page 63

Agenda Annex



  

policy focused, aimed at providing useful tools for our clients. The research has been funded to 
help Westminster and Manchester City Councils when assessing licensing applications and the 
potential risk that an individual premise may pose to the three licensing objectives. The 
Gambling Act is unequivocal; expected demand should not be taken into account or be a 
feature of decisions about premises applications. By implication this means pre-existing supply 
is sidelined as a consideration. If expected demand is not a feature of decisions then whether 
there is already existing supply to service that demand is irrelevant to considerations. Because 
of this, we have not built pre-existing supply-side features (i.e., the location of existing gambling 
venues) into our models. Rather, we focus on modelling the potential risk to consumers in 
particular areas based on the profile of people in these places. 

 

Our modelling approach 

Overview 
We have used spatial analysis techniques to examine local variation in vulnerability to 
gambling-related harm in both Westminster and Manchester. To do this we have: 

• first, identified the main characteristics associated with gambling-related harm; 
• second, identified data that best represents this at a local level, and finally; 
• sought to combine this information into a single model for each region that shows areas 

of greater or lower potential risk. 

There are many possible appropriate spatial models we could use in this analysis. The approach 
we have taken uses multiple layers of spatial data representing the relevant risk characteristics 
which are overlaid to build a bigger picture. This is known as an overlay model. Overlay models 
are a common approach to mapping risk or vulnerability; some examples have been discussed 
earlier. In the following sections we outline the main principles of our methodology. We start 
by providing an overview of which characteristics are in our final models and the data 
supporting them and then discuss our modelling and spatial analysis techniques. 

 

Characteristics included in the models 

As noted in Chapter 2, to be included in our final models, a proposed characteristic had to have 
either good or strong emerging evidence to support inclusion, and have good quality local data 
available. Table 1 summarises this information for each characteristic (a more detailed 
discussion of each dataset used is given later in the chapter).  

25 
 

Page 64

Agenda Annex



  

The models attempt to capture vulnerable people by both their residence and the places they 
may be otherwise, often described as the ‘daytime population’. This gives two different ways of 
spatially referencing people. Throughout our report we refer to these groups as either people 
‘at-home’ and people ‘away-from-home’. Our risk models include both and therefore represent 
information about local residents but also include places which will attract potentially 
vulnerable people to a specific area. In Table 1 we note the type of data available locally for 
each characteristic. 

 

Table 1: Overview of potential variables to include in the models and available data 

Characteristic Supporting evidence Local small area data available 

Problem gamblers who 
are seeking treatment 

Support for seeing those with 
problems or recovering from 
problems as vulnerable; evidence 
that problem gamblers ‘relapse’ 
when faced with gambling cues (like 
premises, adverts etc) 

Away from home only 

Substance abuse/misuse Strong support for those with other 
substance issues as vulnerable 

Away from home only 

Poor mental health Strong support for those with poor 
mental health as vulnerable 

At home only 

Unemployment Strong support for unemployed as 
vulnerable 

Away from home and at home 

Under the influence of 
alcohol 

Emerging evidence but strong 
theoretical inference 

No suitable local level data available 

Ethnic groups Strong support for certain ethnic 
groups as vulnerable 

At home only 

Youth Strong support for youth as 
vulnerable 

Away from home and at home 

Financial difficulties/debt Emerging evidence that people with 
financial difficulties are vulnerable 

Away from home only 

 

 

 

26 
 

Page 65

Agenda Annex



  

Table 1: continued… 

Characteristic Supporting evidence Local small area data available 

Homelessness Emerging evidence that homeless 
population groups are vulnerable 

At home only 

Deprivation Support for those living in the most 
deprived areas as vulnerable 

Modelled by the above6 

Low IQ Support that those with low IQs are 
vulnerable 

No local level data available 

Personality traits Strong evidence that those with 
certain personality traits or 
cognitions are vulnerable 

No local level data available 

Immigrants Emerging evidence that immigrants 
are vulnerable 

No local level data available 

Learning disabilities Some evidence of young males with 
learning disabilities being vulnerable 

No local level data available 

Low educational 
attainment 

Evidence mixed, needs further 
investigation 

Away from home and at home 

Prisoners/probation Need more evidence to examine this No local level data available 

Older people Needs more evidence to examine 
this 

At home only 

Women No evidence that they are vulnerable 
to gambling-related harm, though 
some may becoming more 
vulnerable than previously 

At home only 

 

As Table 1 shows, not all characteristics had good local level data available. Some 
characteristics, such as young people, have strong evidence to recommend inclusion and good 
local small area data. Others have strong or emerging evidence to recommend inclusion but no 
robust local level data to represent this and therefore have not been included in the final 
models. Some characteristics have limited evidence to support inclusion but have good quality 
local small area data. These too are omitted from the models. In addition, some characteristics 

6 Although deprivation data are available at low level geographies, this is not included in our final model as our 
models already include individual aspects which contribute to deprivation scores and we do not want to overstate 
our indices. 

27 
 

                                                           

Page 66

Agenda Annex



  

are only represented by the at-home population, others by the away-from-home population, 
and some by both depending on data availability.  

To summarise, the following characteristics are included in our final models as there is 
sufficient evidence to support inclusion and there are small area data that we can use to 
represent them:  

• Problem gamblers who are seeking treatment 
• Substance abuse/misuse 
• Poor mental health 
• Unemployment 
• Ethnic groups 
• Youth 
• Financial difficulties/debt 
• Homelessness. 

The following characteristics could have been included in the models but there was no local or 
appropriately specific small area data available to do so: 

• Low IQ 
• Personality traits and cognitions 
• Immigrant population 
• Under the influence of alcohol. 

Further information about the exact data used in Westminster and Manchester respectively are 
now discussed.  

28 
 

Page 67

Agenda Annex



  

Datasets  

Selecting datasets 

The datasets used in our models are based on the best available data to represent each risk 
factor. Some risk factors can be represented by multiple data and measures. There are also 
differences between Westminster and Manchester as the models depend on information 
collected by each Local Authority, which varies. Some data may be considered a ‘proxy’ 
measure where an ideal measure may not exist.  

As the study aims to capture local variation, the model uses data at the smallest geographic 
scale or unit possible, including small-area census geographies and full postcodes. Where 
possible, we have used the most recent data available, though for some risk factors the age of 
the data varies. For example, data derived from the census uses information collected in 2011 
though general neighbourhood demographic characteristics tend to stay fairly static within a 
several-year period. For other risk factors, like the location of facilities for treatment for 
addiction, which can be subject to change, we have used the most current data available to us. 

Data sources can be roughly divided into that which is collected, standardised and available as a 
‘national’ dataset (for example census data) and those specific to a local area, which are usually 
available for a LA or a group of LAs (for example, Westminster, Kensington and Chelsea and 
Hammersmith and Fulham for health data). For this study, data available via LAs have been 
sense-checked by reviewing the contents of the data and mapping them for any obvious spatial 
anomalies or missing information, and supplemented by web searches.  

We have been mindful to not overstate or overestimate the model. Risk factors include a 
degree of correlation where the same individuals and communities have a tendency to exhibit 
multiple risk factors. Because of this possibility, we have omitted multiple deprivation as a 
measure because many aspects included in the multiple deprivation measure were already 
included separately in our models (like unemployment, for example). Also, some factors 
included in the multiple deprivation measure, like low educational attainment, were shown to 
have a varied relationship with problem gambling and we made the decision to exclude low 
educational attainment as a risk factor from our model.  

All characteristics in the models are represented by different sets of data. Therefore, in our 
models risk factors are treated as silos although we acknowledge there may be correlation 
between them, both at the level of the individual and for local populations generally. There is 
currently no British evidence which examines multiple risk factors for gambling-related harm 
and our approach is based on existing knowledge about individual risk factors alone. 

29 
 

Page 68

Agenda Annex



  

 

Datasets used 

For each risk factor included in our models, we discuss the type of data used and its strengths 
and weaknesses. Full details are given in Tables 2 and 3. 

 

Risk factor: problem gamblers seeking treatment 

Dataset used: Gamblers Anonymous meetings, and Gamcare counselling locations  

These locations are derived from lists provided by Gamcare and the Gamblers Anonymous 
website. These locations show the places where people with gambling problems will be visiting 
and hence ‘pull’ this potentially vulnerable group to this location. Whilst sense-checking is 
recommended (i.e., ensuring records are accurate), spatial accuracy to the full postcode will be 
dependable.  

 

Risk factor: people with substance abuse or misuse problems 

Dataset used: Drug and alcohol treatment and recovery centres/clinics and clinics within GP 
surgeries, needle exchanges, accommodation for persons who require treatment for substance 
misuse  

As with problem gambling treatment centres, these clinics are likely to act as ‘pull’ for 
potentially vulnerable people to these locations. This dataset is an amalgamation of LA internal 
lists supplemented by web searches for any possible missing data on government websites 
(public health departments, LAs, NHS), together with data from the England Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) for accommodation locations. The analysis is dependent upon the LA and 
government sources being well informed, managed and current; further sense-checking of the 
input data using local knowledge is recommended. There are some sensitive locations which 
cannot be published in the public domain, but our combined results are non-disclosive. CQC 
data are a robust and complete national dataset. 

There is variation in the 'types' of services offered in each treatment location, which have been 
modelled with the same importance. Further research could assess these treatment and 
support locations and attach different levels of importance to them should evidence show that 
some facilities are accessed by people who are more or less vulnerable to gambling-related 
harm.  

30 
 

Page 69

Agenda Annex



  

 

Risk factor: people with poor mental health 

Datasets used: Number of resident outpatient attendances to acute hospitals relating to 
treatment function specialities 710 (adult mental illness), 722 (liaison psychiatry), 723 
(psychiatric intensive care) – hospital episode statistics (HES) 

These data reflect residents who have sought treatment under the NHS and are being treated 
as hospital outpatients for mental illness. It does not capture those within the population who 
do not seek help. It is estimated that approximately 48% of those with common mental 
disorders had used a health care service for a mental or emotional problem (McManus et al, 
2008). The HES data are therefore a very conservative measure of mental ill health among local 
resident populations. We have used the most detailed grouping of mental health types 
available within this dataset which covers a wide range of types of mental illness and 
psychiatry; it does not represent a detailed assessment of area-based mental health issues. 
Only an extremely small number of attendances are recorded as 'pathological gambling' cases 
as the primary/key treatment.  

To protect the anonymity of individuals, the HES data are aggregated to Lower Super Output 
Areas (LSOA)7 giving a broad neighbourhood accuracy of around 650 households. In those 
LSOAs with very small counts where it may be possible to identify individuals the data are not 
published (similar to UK Census data) although the overall trends remain the same since the 
counts in these LSOAs are so low. The data used are the latest provisional data released by the 
NHS Health and Social Care Information Centre at the time of the study. They constitute an 
authoritative and complete dataset of outpatients nationally.8  

Capturing spatially accurate information about people with poor mental health is difficult and 
we acknowledge some limitations with this. First, data are aggregated to LSOA level meaning 
these data are, spatially, less precise than some of our other datasets which use postcode 
information. Therefore, these data represent a broader neighbourhood pattern than data 
referenced by postcode. Second, the mental health groups or diagnoses recorded in the data 
do not directly match the descriptors used in the empirical evidence (which considered things 
like common mental disorder, psychosis and so on). However, we believe there is sufficient 
overlap for these data to represent a measure of poor mental health in local areas, even if this 

7 LSOAs are geo-demographically engineered spaces which represent areas with a minimum of 1000 and a 
maximum of 3000 residents. 
8 Data in LSOAs can be mapped in two ways, either as a zone or as a single point reference. In our model we use 
the point reference but rather than simply identifying the geographic centre of LSOA, the point we used is 
weighted to reflect the underlying population distribution in the LSOA. 

31 
 

                                                           

Page 70

Agenda Annex



  

is a conservative measure represented at a broader geographic scale. These data have been 
supplemented with further insight from the GP register. 

Number of patients recorded on the GP register with schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder 
and other psychoses, and other patients on lithium therapy or with depression (18 or over) – 
NHS Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF) 

These data reflect those residents who have sought primary care treatment under the NHS via 
their general practitioner. Again this excludes those residents who do not seek help. The types 
of mental health measured reflect those defined in the QOF database and do not represent a 
detailed assessment of area-based mental health issues.  

Because these data are georeferenced to the unit postcode of the GP practice they reflect both 
a 'daytime' service location and a neighbourhood based residence statistic. GP practices tend to 
serve a catchment area of residents in the immediate geographical hinterland. These 
catchments, however, vary in size. They are not geo-demographically engineered to reflect 
similar population or household sizes, or geographic size around the GP location. As each GP 
catchment area varies in size, either by population, geographic area or both, they provide a less 
accurate way of measuring resident-based trends spatially. 

Not all GP practices have their mental health statistics included in the QOF database. Nationally 
13% of GPs have mental health information missing. In 2013/14, 16.5% of GPs in Westminster 
had missing mental health data and in Manchester it was 14.9%.9 These GP locations have been 
included as there will be a level of treatment and care in each location, but not weighted by 
number of people recorded on the GP register. 

Despite the limitations noted above, the QOF data does represent a broad approximation of 
residents in GP catchments areas who have sought primary care for a range of mental health 
conditions. 

 

 

 

 

 

Risk factor: Unemployed people 

9 These estimates are for the full borough and the 1km surrounding area of each borough. 

32 
 

                                                           

Page 71

Agenda Annex



  

Datasets used: Location of job centres 

Job centres will be accessed by members of the population who are likely to be unemployed 
and considered likely to have a combination of very low income and a large amount of personal 
disposable time. 

These data are gathered from the Directgov website and should provide a complete and 
current list of job centre locations.  

Number of economically active unemployed residents – Census 2011 table QS601 

This dataset is used to represent unemployment among resident populations. Derived from the 
2011 UK Census data, a potential limitation is the currency of the data, now being four years 
out of date although we recognise that the locations of higher unemployment in cities tend to 
persist through time. Despite this, Census data gives good spatial aggregation and accuracy of 
data at the output area level, representing around 300 people on average, and so represents 
unemployment among local residents. 

 

Risk factor: Minority ethnic groups 

Dataset used: Number of residents from Asian/Asian British, Black/African/Caribbean/Black 
British ethnic groups, Arab or other ethnic groups – Census 2011 table KS201 

Census data were used to look at the ethnic profile of local residents. As with the 
unemployment data, currency may be an issue and we would recommend sense checking this 
information.  

All relevant ethnic groups vulnerable to harm are considered equal within our modelling, 
commensurate with current research evidence. As new evidence emerges about the relative 
risk among different ethnic groups, the models could be updated to reflect this. 

 

Risk factor: Youth 

Datasets used: Number of residents aged 10-24 years – Census 2011 table Q103 

The age range of 10-24 has been selected based on the interpretation of the evidence including 
‘emerging adults’ as well as younger children in ‘transitional life stages’ as vulnerable. We 
recognise the reality of a ‘fuzzier’ boundary of age, where these developmental stages may 

33 
 

Page 72

Agenda Annex



  

occur at different times in different individuals. However, for the purposes of quantitative 
modelling, a distinctive age range has been used. 

This dataset also exhibits the currency issue of the latest Census data. 

Education institutions with students of 13-24 years– Edubase2 

These data list all known educational institutions for people aged 13-24 and are derived from a 
complete and current government database, so can be considered a reliable source.  

These locations have been included as they represent areas where younger people will be 
present in greater numbers at certain points of the day. Many educational institutions can have 
catchment areas much broader than their immediate locale and they reflect the daytime 
population. In the case of higher educational institutes, this will also reflect greater night-time 
populations too.  We have chosen the slightly older age range of 13-24 to reflect the potential 
vulnerability of younger people gaining access venues under the legal age. 

As with the resident based measures, the ‘fuzzy’ boundary of age also applies here. Only 
schools with pupils in this age range are included, but other aspects of the school including 
accessibility are not considered in our models. For example, individual policies surrounding 
whether school pupils are allowed to leave school grounds at break times may contribute to a 
greater or lesser risk of accessing local gambling facilities. This is unknown and therefore not 
included in our models. 

 

Risk factor: those with financial difficulties and/or debt 

Datasets used: The location of payday loan shops 

These data represent locations where those with financial difficulties and debt problems are 
more likely to be present, visiting places where credit is accessed through less secured means. 
Although pay day loan shops may be accessed by many members of the population, these 
locations may serve to pull vulnerable populations with financial and debt problems into an 
area by providing them with access to unsecured and easy-access finance. 

Completeness and currency is a key data quality issue. National business datasets commonly 
use classifications which cannot accurately pin-point this type of business. These data are 
therefore derived from local web searches.  

 

 

34 
 

Page 73

Agenda Annex



  

The location of food banks 

This dataset aims to model financial difficulties and debt problems, through places where 
people are so severely financially constrained they cannot afford to buy food. This aims to 
capture risky locations by those with the biggest financial strains. 

Again completeness and currency are key data quality issues. Food banks are opening at a fast 
rate and there appears to be no central database managing these locations as they are usually 
not council-led services or officially part of government policy or welfare state provision. Web 
searches have been used to add extra locations where they were missing from LA lists. 

 

Risk factor: Homelessness/housing instability 

Dataset used: The location of homeless accommodation from Local Authority lists/Homeless UK 

Although considered emerging evidence in our review, it was felt that the evidence was strong 
enough to consider it appropriate for inclusion in the model. There are a variety of 
accommodation provision types for the homeless, ranging from emergency shelters to more 
mid to long-term support representing broader 'housing instability’. Data on the location of 
accommodation for homeless were provided by Westminster and corroborated through online 
checks. Locations for Manchester City Council were not available, so these have been derived 
from online lists available at Homeless UK which give key locations. However, this database 
may not include sensitive locations not fit for publishing in the public domain (for example, 
women’s refuges), as well as smaller accommodation provision.  

All homeless accommodation types included in the models have been given the same 
importance. Further analysis might consider these different types to determine if some 
accommodation types may be accessed by people at greater or lesser risk of gambling-related 
harm. 

 

35 
 

Page 74

Agenda Annex



  

Table  2: metadata details for datasets used in the Manchester model 

Characteristic Indicator/measure Dataset name Reference 
date 

Geographic 
scale/ 
aggregation 

Dataset owner and 
copyright 

Geographic 
availability 

KDE 
band-
width 

Weighted 
by 

Missing boroughs 

Problem 
gamblers who 
are seeking 
treatment 

Gamblers 
Anonymous meetings 
and Gamcare 
locations 

Gamcare and 
web searches 

06/2015 Unit 
postcode of 
the 
treatment 
centre 
location 

Gamcare. Provided for 
the purpose of this 
project. 

England 400m None None 

Substance 
abuse/ 
misuse 

Drug and alcohol 
treatment and 
recovery 
centres/clinics and 
clinics within GP 
surgeries, needle 
exchanges, 
accommodation for 
persons who require 
treatment for 
substance misuse 

Lists provided by 
Local 
Authorities, CQC 
care directory 
(for 
accommodation) 
and web 
searches 

05/2015 Unit 
postcode of 
the 
treatment 
centre 
location 

Manchester City 
Council and 
surrounding districts. 
Provided for the 
purpose of this 
project. Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) 
open data. 

Local 
Authority 

400m None Needle exchanges 
– Cheshire East, 
Tameside, Bury, 
drug clinics within 
GP surgeries – all 
surrounding 
boroughs 

36 
 

P
age 75

A
genda A

nnex



  

Poor mental 
health 

Number of patients 
recorded on the GP 
register with 
schizophrenia, 
bipolar affective 
disorder and other 
psychoses, and other 
patients on lithium 
therapy or with 
depression (18 or 
over) 

Quality 
Outcomes 
Framework 
(QOF) GP 
statistics 

2013/2014 Unit 
postcode of 
the GP 
practice 

Health and Social Care 
Information Centre 
(HSCIC). Open data. 

England 400m Number of 
patients 

None 

Unemploy-
ment 

Jobcentre Plus 
Offices 

Directgov 
http://los.direct.
gov.uk/ 

06/2015 Unit 
postcode of 
the job 
centre 
location 

Directgov. Data in the 
public domain. 

Local 
Authority 

400m None None 

Number of 
economically active 
unemployed 
residents 

Census 2011 
table QS601 

03/2011 2011 Output 
Areas (OA) 

Office for National 
Statistics (ONS). 
Available under Open 
Government Licence 
(OGL). 

UK 750m Number of 
residents 

None 

Ethnic groups Number of residents 
from Asian/Asian 
British, 
Black/African/Caribb
ean/Black British 
ethnic groups, Arab 
or other ethnic 
groups 

Census 2011 
table KS201 

03/2011 2011 Output 
Areas (OA) 

Office for National 
Statistics (ONS). 
Available under Open 
Government Licence 
(OGL) 

UK 750m Number of 
residents  

None 

37 
 

P
age 76

A
genda A

nnex



  

Youth Education 
institutions with 
students of 13-24 
years 

Edubase2 08/2015 Address 
coordinates 
of the school 
location 

Department for 
Education (DoE). 
Available under Open 
Government Licence 
(OGL) 

UK 400m None None 

Emerging adults and 
younger children - 
number of residents 
aged 10-24 years 

Census 2011 
table QS103 

03/2011 2011 Output 
Areas (OA) 

Office for National 
Statistics (ONS). 
Available under Open 
Government Licence 
(OGL) 

UK 750m Number of 
residents  

None 

Financial 
difficulties/ 
debt 

Payday loan shops Web searches 05/2015 Unit 
postcode of 
the shop 
location 

n/a Local 
Authority 

400m None None 

Food banks Local Authority 
lists 
supplemented 
by web searches 

04/2015 Unit 
postcode of 
the food 
bank 
location 

Manchester City 
Council and 
surrounding districts. 
Provided for the 
purpose of this 
project. 

Local 
Authority 

400m None None 

Homeless-
ness 

Emergency, second 
stage and specialist 
homeless 
accommodation 

Homeless UK 02/2015  Unit 
postcode of 
the 
residence 

n/a Local 
Authority 

400m None None 

38 
 

P
age 77

A
genda A

nnex



  

 Table 3: metadata details for the datasets used in the Westminster model 

Criteria Indicator/measure Dataset name Reference 
date 

Geographic 
scale/ 
aggregation 

Dataset owner and 
copyright 

Geographic 
availability 

KDE 
band-
width 

Weighted 
by 

Missing boroughs 

Problem 
gamblers 
who are 
seeking 
treatment 

Gamblers Anonymous 
meetings, and Gamcare 
locations 

Gamcare and 
web searches 

06/2015 Unit 
postcode of 
the 
treatment 
centre 
location 

Gamcare. Provided for 
the purpose of this 
project. 

England 400m None None 

Substance 
abuse/ 
misuse 

Drug and alcohol 
treatment and recovery 
centres/clinics, needle 
exchanges, 
accommodation for 
persons who require 
treatment for 
substance misuse 

Lists provided 
by Local 
Authorities, 
CQC care 
directory (for 
accommodatio
n) and web 
searches 

05/2015 Unit 
postcode of 
the 
treatment 
centre 
location 

Westminster City 
Council. Provided for the 
purpose of this project. 
Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) open data. 

Local 
Authority 

400m None Needle exchanges 
- Brent 

Poor 
mental 
health 

Number of patients 
recorded on the GP 
register with 
schizophrenia, bipolar 
affective disorder and 
other psychoses, and 
other patients on 
lithium therapy or with 
depression (18 or over) 

Quality 
Outcomes 
Framework 
(QOF) GP 
statistics 

2013/ 
2014 

Unit 
postcode of 
the GP 
practice 

Health and Social Care 
Information Centre 
(HSCIC). Open data. 

England 400m Number of 
patients 

None 

39 
 

P
age 78

A
genda A

nnex



  

Number of resident 
outpatient attendances 
to acute hospitals 
relating to treatment 
function specialities 
710 (adult mental 
illness), 722 (liaison 
psychiatry), 723 
(psychiatric intensive 
care) 

HSCIC hospital 
episodes 
statistics 

2013/ 
2014 

Lower Super 
Output Area 
(LSOA) 

Health and Social Care 
Information Centre 
(HSCIC). Provided under 
restricted licence for the 
purposes of this project. 

Local 
Authority 

750m Number of 
residents 

Brent, Camden, 
City of London, 
Lambeth, 
Wandsworth 

Unemploy
ment 

Jobcentre Plus Offices Directgov 
http://los.direc
t.gov.uk/ 

06/2015 Unit 
postcode of 
the job 
centre 
location 

Directgov. Data in the 
public domain. 

Local 
Authority 

400m None None 

Number of 
economically active 
unemployed residents 

Census 2011 
table QS601 

03/2011 2011 Output 
Areas (OA) 

Office for National 
Statistics (ONS). 
Available under Open 
Government Licence 
(OGL). 

UK 750m Number of 
residents 

None 

Ethnic 
groups 

Number of residents 
from Asian/Asian 
British, 
Black/African/Caribbea
n/Black British ethnic 
groups, Arab or other 
ethnic groups 

Census 2011 
table KS201 

03/2011 2011 Output 
Areas (OA) 

Office for National 
Statistics (ONS). 
Available under Open 
Government Licence 
(OGL) 

UK 750m Number of 
residents  

None 

40 
 

P
age 79

A
genda A

nnex



  

Youth Education institutions 
with students of 13-24 
years 

Edubase2 08/2015 Address 
coordinates 
of the school 
location. 

Department for 
Education (DoE). 
Available under Open 
Government Licence 
(OGL) 

UK 400m None None 

Emerging adults and 
younger children - 
number of residents 
aged 10-24 years 

Census 2011 
table QS103 

03/2011 2011 Output 
Areas (OA) 

Office for National 
Statistics (ONS). 
Available under Open 
Government Licence 
(OGL) 

UK 750m Number of 
residents  

None 

Financial 
difficulties/ 
debt 

Payday loan shops Web searches 05/2015 Unit 
postcode of 
the shop 
location 

n/a Local 
Authority 

400m None None 

Food banks Local Authority 
lists 
supplemented 
by web 
searches 

04/2015 Unit 
postcode of 
the food 
bank 
location 

Westminster City Council 
and surrounding 
districts. Provided for 
the purpose of this 
project. 

Local 
Authority 

400m None None 

41 
 

P
age 80

A
genda A

nnex



  

Homeless-
ness 

Westminster supported 
housing projects, 
including 'offenders or 
people at risk of 
offending' , 'people 
with alcohol/ drug 
problems', 'people with 
mental health 
problems', 'rough 
sleeper hostel services', 
'rough sleeper 
supported housing 
services', 'single 
homeless hostel 
services', 'young people 
at risk or leaving care' 

Local Authority 
lists 

03/2014  Unit 
postcode of 
the 
residence 

Westminster City Council Local 
Authority 

400m None Kensington and 
Chelsea, Brent, 
Camden, 
Lambeth, 
Wandsworth 

42 
 

P
age 81

A
genda A

nnex



  

Spatial analysis techniques 
 

Raster overlay analysis and tree-based models 

Having identified the risk factors to use in our 
models, our next step was to build the 
localised spatial risk indices for Westminster 
and Manchester respectively. We did this 
using an overlay analysis based on a tree-
based model. Overlay analysis is a 
methodology that has been used in planning 
and policy for many years (McHarg, 1969). It is 
simply the placement of map layer A 
(representing a set of features) on top of map 
layer B, to create a new map layer, C, which is 
some combination of A and B (see Figure 3 – 
after Smith, Longley, Goodchild, 2015).  

For this study, each map layer represents a 
different risk factor for gambling vulnerability, 
which are added together to calculate a 
cumulative value or vulnerability score at any 
one location. It is possible to overlay many 
different types of data. We have chosen to 
model continuous surfaces called raster-based 
data. Raster data divides the study area into a 
continuous surface of square cells, and it is 
these cells that become overlaid and added 
together for each cell location.10  

 

 

10 This type of spatial model has been used to underpin planning and initiatives for some time. A recent model was 
developed for the Department of Communities and Local Government to identify the extent of town centres in 
order to track the efficacy of central government’s retail planning policy. Key to this approach was the aggregation 
of a number of different indicators within a tree-based data structure (Thurstain-Goodwin and Unwin, 2000). 

 

Figure 3: visual representation of overlay 
 

A 

B 

C 

43 
 

                                                           

Page 82

Agenda Annex



  

A tree-based approach is the conceptual model showing how all indicators are structured 
within our models. This structure then guides the method and order in which the final indices 
are calculated. For example, the tree-based structure is used to define which layers of data 
represent certain risk factors and these data are then grouped together. The tree-based 
structure also defines how these data should be added together as a weight is applied to reflect 
the importance of each characteristic. Essentially, common groups of risk factors become 
branches in the model and funnel into the final composite model. Our tree structures for 
Manchester and Westminster respectively are shown in Figures 4 and 5. 

Looking at Figure 4, at the top level are the ‘leaves’ of the tree representing a range of different 
types of data for each risk factor. These feed into conceptual ‘branches’ of the model and the 
‘branch nodes’ which represent each risk factor group. In some cases, there is more than one 
source of data for each risk factor. For example, the location of pay day loan shops and food 
banks feed into the conceptual branch of the model called ‘financial problems’. The ‘base’ of 
the tree is the final composite index of risk.  

The benefit of the tree-based approach is that it is flexible. The model can be repeatedly 
applied to other study areas (given the same data availability), and the structure of the tree can 
also be changed to reflect the local study area data availability (i.e., extra branches can be 
added, if appropriate). The tree-based model can also incorporate new, updated or better 
quality data when it is available and where the evidence base develops and changes. Ideally, 
the tree structure will be standardised so that it is comparable between study areas. However, 
the data available for modelling between LAs will vary and may be different in structure 
meaning that each LA will likely have a slightly different model. The tree-based model offers a 
simple way of identifying those small differences.  This is the case for Westminster and 
Manchester and the tree models for each area are shown in Figures 4 and 5. 

Figures 4 and 5 also show two main branch nodes in our models: ‘people away from home’ and 
‘people at home’. Populations by their inherent nature are not static in space or time. To 
identify the locations of vulnerable people, the models incorporates locations where these 
people may be when they are at home (i.e. local residents) or away from home (visiting certain 
services in a local area). The tree-based model has been conceptually separated into these two 
indices. Separate indices illustrate areas of risk pertaining to the ‘at home’ populations 
compared with the ‘away from home’ population. These indices are then added together to 
give an overall composite index for each area (see Appendix 1 for illustrations of these 
characteristics). Having these separate indices gives a better understanding of the local area 
and the elements that form the overall model. It also helps to understand what is driving risk in 
a particular location: the resident ‘at home’ population, the ‘away from home’ population, or 
both. 

44 
 

Page 83

Agenda Annex



  

 

 

Figure 4: tree-based model for the Manchester gambling-related harm risk index 

45 
 

P
age 84

A
genda A

nnex



  

 Figure 5: tree-based model for the Westminster gambling-related harm risk index 

46 
 

P
age 85

A
genda A

nnex



  

Modelling factors and equations used 

Each raster data layer in the tree is added together with arithmetic addition according to the 
order of the tree structure. The calculation is represented with the following formula: 

𝑔𝑔ℎ𝑣𝑣𝑣𝑣 = �𝑎𝑎𝑖𝑖𝑠𝑠𝑖𝑖

𝑛𝑛

𝑖𝑖

 

where 

ghvi = gambling-related harm risk index  

n = number of indicators 

i = each indicator 

a = weighting for each indicator 

s = transformed z score normalization of each indicator 

The gambling-related harm risk index is a probabilistic measure of the likelihood of the risk to 
gambling-related harm at any one location. 

Within the tree-based model, there are variations in the types of data included. This includes 
variations in the spatial scale by which measures are aggregated (e.g., larger and smaller census 
areas) and the units of measurement (e.g., residents or facility locations). Where the data types 
are the same, a simple arithmetic addition of the input surfaces is calculated. Where data types 
are different we first normalise each input raster surface before adding them together using a z 
score function. This normalisation maintains the spatial variation and overall relative pattern in 
the raster surface by expressing the values as standard deviations of the input frequency 
distributions. This creates a standardised metric that makes the cell values comparable 
between raster datasets, and allows them to be integrated. 

By ‘normalising’ the values of cells we also standardise the mathematical impact of ‘branch 
nodes’ or risk factors being measured so that no single risk factor dominates.  

The calculation for normalised z scores is represented with the following formula:  

(a − b)/c 

a = data point or cell value 

b = mean of data points or cell values 

47 
 

Page 86

Agenda Annex



  

c = standard deviation of data points or cell values 

 

Weighting 

Why weight? 

When developing risk indices, it is standard to apply weights to the different component parts 
of the model. This recognises that the relative importance of each risk factor is not the same 
and seeks to represent this in the model. This principle is the same for our models. Whilst we 
have a range of different risk factors, they are not all equal in terms of the relative risk attached 
to each. Therefore, we have developed a weighting scheme and applied it to our final models. 

 

Weighting scheme used in the models  

The weighting scheme developed for this project draws on two different domains to assign a 
relative risk weight to each factor. These are: 

• the strength of the empirical evidence and, 
• the relative level of gambling harm/problems exhibited by each group. 

Looking at the strength of evidence domain first, throughout this project we have reviewed and 
assessed the empirical evidence relating to each risk factor. This assessment included review of 
both the quantity and quality of the evidence. Whilst we recognise this is subjective, we believe 
our judgements reflect well the existing evidence and were judged to be sound by independent 
peer reviewers.11 We have translated this assessment of strength of evidence into a scale 
ranging from 0 to 1, where 0 equals no evidence and 1 equals excellent evidence. The values 
given to each risk factor on this first domain are shown in Table 4 below, along with a brief 
justification of the value assigned.  

 

 

Table 4: Strength of evidence weighting domain  

Risk factor Value Explanation 

11 Our first phase report was independently peer reviewed by two leading gambling academics who were asked to 
specifically comment on our assessment of the evidence, which they judged to be sound. 

48 
 

                                                           

Page 87

Agenda Annex



  

Problem gamblers who are seeking 
treatment 

0.25 The existing evidence shows strong logical inference 
that those seeking treatment are liable to both 
relapse into gambling harm and being influenced by 
gambling-related cues. However, no study 
examining this in Britain was identified and the 
existing evidence did not offer much quantification 
of the issue. For this reason, we have allocated a 
lower rating for strength of evidence. 

Substance abuse/misuse 1 The evidence base demonstrating the strength of 
the association between substance misuse/abuse is 
strong. There is both British based and international 
data from studies using gold-standard 
methodologies. 

Poor mental health 1 As above, there is both British based and 
international evidence supporting this, with studies 
using gold-standard methodologies. 

Unemployment 1 As above, there is both British based and 
international evidence supporting this, with studies 
using gold-standard methodologies. 

Ethnic groups 1 As above, there is both British based and 
international evidence supporting this, with studies 
using gold-standard methodologies. 

Youth 1 As above, with the addition that youth are singled 
out for additional regulatory protection in the 
Gambling Act, 2005. 

Financial difficulties/debt 0.5 There is emerging evidence of the relationship 
between financial difficulties and debt and gambling 
harm. The few British based studies use gold-
standard methodologies but this remains to be 
further explored. 

Homelessness 0.25 There is only one British based study examining this 
and this focuses on one area in London only. There 
are similar findings from the USA, including a recent 
study which reports similar prevalence estimates to 
the British study. However, this is an emerging area 
and therefore we have assigned a lower strength of 
evidence value.  

 

Our second domain focuses on the relative levels of risk of problem gambling among each 
group. This ranking has been produced by examining rates of problem gambling among each 

49 
 

Page 88

Agenda Annex



  

group and calculating the extent to which these rates are higher than that of the general 
population. This is calculated by dividing the estimate for each risk factor by the population 
average.  A score of 0 means that the rate of problem gambling among this group is the same as 
the national average, anything above 0 means that problem gambling among this group is x 
times higher than the national average. One exception is the score given to problem gamblers 
seeking treatment. All of this group are already known to be problem gamblers so have been 
allocated a score of 100, representing that all of them (i.e., 100%) are known to be problem 
gamblers (making comparisons to the general population prevalence defunct).12 Results are 
shown in Table 5. 

Table 5: Relative risk of gambling problems weighting domain 

Risk factor Value Explanation 

Problem gamblers who 
are seeking treatment 

100 All people seeking treatment for problem gambling are 
problem gamblers 

Substance abuse/misuse 4.3 This uses the median estimate of problem gambling among 
those with various substance abuse/misuse disorders from 
the Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey, 2007 (see Appendix 
Table A1, Wardle, 2015a) (3%) divided by 0.7%, the 
population average recorded in the same dataset.   

Poor mental health 4.2 This uses the median estimate of problem gambling among 
those with various substance abuse/misuse disorders from 
the Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey, 2007 (see Appendix 
Table A1, Wardle, 2015a) (2.95%) divided by 0.7%, the 
population average recorded in the same dataset.   

Unemployment 2.0 This uses the problem gambling prevalence estimate among 
unemployed people reported in the combined Health Survey 
for England and Scotland report (1.2%) divided by the 
equivalent population average in that report (0.6%). See 
Wardle et al, 2014. The problem gambling rates among 
unemployed people in this report are lower than the BGPS 
series, which means this may be a conservative estimate. 

 

 

Table 5: Continued… 

Risk factor Value Explanation 

12 We tried a range of different weighting criteria for problem gambling which did not materially alter the results 
observed. 

50 
 

                                                           

Page 89

Agenda Annex



  

Ethnic groups 4.0 This uses the median problem gambling prevalence estimate 
among minority ethnic groups reported in the combined 
Health Survey for England and Scotland report (2.4%) divided 
by the equivalent population average in that report (0.6%). 
See Wardle et al, 2014. The problem gambling rates among 
minority ethnic groups in this report are lower than the BGPS 
series, which means this may be a conservative estimate. 

Youth 2.3 This uses the problem gambling prevalence estimate among 
young people aged 16-24 reported in the combined Health 
Survey for England and Scotland report (1.4%) divided by the 
equivalent population average in that report (0.6%). See 
Wardle et al, 2014. Problem gambling rates among younger 
children internationally are believed to be higher than this, 
meaning that this may be a conservative estimate. 

Financial difficulties/debt 2.3 This uses data from the APMS 2007 survey showing problem 
gambling prevalence rates among those experiencing 
debt/financial problems and divides this by the population 
average reported in that study. See Appendix A, Wardle 2015. 

Homelessness 19.3 This uses problem gambling prevalence rates of 11.6% (as 
reported by Sharman et al) and divides this by the most 
recent population average (0.6%). 

 

Having created two different domains in our weighting scheme, one representing strength of 
evidence and the other representing relative risk of gambling problems, these were multiplied 
together to give the final weights for each risk factor. See Table 6. These were the final weights 
used in our models. 

  

51 
 

Page 90

Agenda Annex



  

Table 6: Weightings applied to the model characteristics 

Risk factor Strength of evidence Relative risk Final weight 

Problem gamblers who are 
seeking treatment 

0.25 100 25 

Substance abuse/misuse 1 4.3 4.3 

Poor mental health 1 4.2 4.2 

Unemployment 1 2.0 2.0 

Ethnic groups 1 4.0 4.0 

Youth 1 2.3 2.3 

Financial difficulties/debt 0.5 2.3 1.15 

Homelessness 0.25 19.3 4.8 

 

Creating the final indices 

Once all data were normalised, weighted and added together, the final combination of rasters 
were integrated into an index measure for each area. This represents a standard continuous 
index range from 0-100, which is easier to interpret than standard deviations. The ‘at home’ 
and ‘away from home’ index calculations were recalculated to derive a usable score from 0-50. 
This was achieved by applying an offset to the cell values to set the minimum value as 0 using 
the following calculation: 

(50/maximum cell value)*cell value 

For each area, the overall composite index is the arithmetic addition of the ‘at home’ and ‘away 
from home’ input indices, giving a theoretical range of 0-100, where higher scores equate to 
higher risk. Not all study areas will have local areas where a maximum score of 100 exists 
because it unlikely that all the risk indicators, both at home and away from home, will be 
located in the same place.  

 

Study area comparisons 

This study was funded and commissioned by Westminster and Manchester City Councils 
respectively. This means the models are organised and defined for each LA respectively.  

52 
 

Page 91

Agenda Annex



  

Ideally, within the context of national policy like local area risk indices, we would create a 
standard model which allowed direct comparisons between geographic areas. To do this, the 
same input datasets must be available in each case. However, each LA actually has a different 
range of data available. Therefore, the models created are bespoke to each LA, despite having 
the same methodological approach and theoretical underpinning. This limits comparability 
between Westminster and Manchester. 

The models give a measure of risk for each LA which is relative only to that individual study 
area. In this way the cell values in one study area are not directly comparable with those in 
another, although they are similar as the index for each has been created in the same way. We 
therefore caution readers not make direct comparisons between Westminster and Manchester 
but to view each area independently. The risk values produced for each LA are not comparable 
between study areas. 

 

Input dataset modelling 

Surface representations 

We have chosen to model the input dataset as raster or ‘surface’ representations rather than 
distinct area units. Continuous data surfaces are often easier to perceive and understand by eye 
(see Figure 6 comparisons) and also have statistical analysis benefits. Output ‘surfaces’ or 
rasters are composed of cells, whose size can vary. Our modelling uses a 50x50m cell size, 
which is a similar and appropriate to the precision of unit postcode centroids data fed into the 
models.13  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13 A unit postcode centroid represents, on average, the centre around 15 geographically contiguous addresses 

53 
 

                                                           

Page 92

Agenda Annex



  

 

   

 

Kernel Density Estimations (KDE) 

For this study, we are looking to estimate the concentration or density of multiple risk factors 
for gambling-related harm in local areas. This includes the density of residents with a certain 
risk factor or the density of facilities relating to the treatment of addiction for example. To do 
this, we have used Kernel Density Estimation (KDE), a technique which calculates and visualises 
the density of activity over a study area (Silverman, 1986).  

In this project we are concerned with identifying facilities or residents regardless of their 
relative levels in the base population. It is important to identify where the people with each risk 
factor are situated regardless of whether the neighbourhood they live in is big or small, densely 
populated or sparsely populated. In line with the third licensing objective we are concerned 
with the location of potentially vulnerable people rather than the relative levels or ratio of 
vulnerable people to non-vulnerable people in an area. Because of this, the KDEs used in our 
models show the variation in risk across, and relative to, each LA area rather than showing rates 
of risk relative to population size at each area.  

There are many functions which can be used to model slightly different KDEs. Our models use 
the Epanechnikov quadratic kernel, (Silverman, 1986, pg. 76, section 4.4). The selection of 
function to define the probability distribution is not as crucial to the model as the choice of 
kernel bandwidth or search radius (Bailey & Gatrell, 1995), which is discussed below. 

Figure 6: example spatial representations of small area census data: areal units vs kernel 
density estimations (KDE) 

54 
 

Page 93

Agenda Annex



  

 

KDE parameters 

A KDE consists of several modelling parameters which can be changed for each KDE. Output cell 
size is one such parameter, which has been standardised for all calculations in this model. The 
other key parameter is the search radius, or the area around each data point in space that the 
estimation incorporates. Larger radii tend to return a more generalised pattern, and smaller 
radii reveal greater detail, and they are appropriately defined by the type and scale of the 
individual data being modelled. 

For data relating to facilities and services we have used a 400m search radius which represents 
a logical walking distance to local services. There is no detailed advice available in government 
Planning Policy Guidance regarding accessibility to services. UK Government Planning Policy 
Statement 6 makes a brief mention to locations that are 'well connected and within easy 
walking distance' being up to 300 metres, although this is not qualified with any evidence or 
repeated elsewhere in literature. Some of our previous research used a 400m distance for 
service access, therefore continuing to use this measure is consistent with our previous work in 
this area (Wardle et al, 2014; Astbury and Thurstain, 2015). Facilities and services are 
geolocated by the centroid of a full unit postcode, which is accurate to approximately 15 
contiguous addresses.  

For residential data we have mostly used small-area Census geographies, including Output 
Areas (OAs) and Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) for England and Wales. OAs are the 
smallest area at which Census data are collected, with an average of 309 people in 2011 for 
England and Wales. LSOAs are slightly larger with an average of 1500 people. They are 
contiguous geographic areas covering the whole country which vary in physical size, but are 
geo-demographically engineered to be relatively homogenous in terms of their population 
count and demographic profile, and thus represent similar underlying base populations. We 
have used the population-weighted centroid of each area, which locates the optimal point 
where the majority of residents live within these areas.  

Martin, Tate and Langford (2000) established that a search radius for kernel density estimates 
between 500m and 1,000m was optimal for use with these census areas, with anything over 
1,000m tending to over-disperse isolated settlements into the surrounding area. We have 
examined different radii and 750m appears an optimal level to define neighbourhood-level 
variations in urban areas. This is the search radius we have used for these KDE estimates. 

The parameters used for each input dataset are included in Tables 2 and 3, including which 
search radius was used for each dataset in the model. 

55 
 

Page 94

Agenda Annex



  

 

Local Authority boundary edge effects 

Whilst our study area is defined by the administrative boundaries of each Local Authority, real-
life geography is continuous, so wherever possible we have gathered data from surrounding LAs 
and extended the modelling past the authority boundary. The data are modelled to include this 
extra data, with the raster or 'surface' representation shown at 1km past the boundary, to 
illustrate any significant areas in neighbouring jurisdictions which may impact on conditions 
within each LA.14 Z scores are calculated on the LA extent plus the 1km surrounding area, so the 
normalised scores represent a ‘study area’ average of 1km past the LA boundary. Where extra 
data are not available from surrounding boroughs we have flagged this in Tables 2 and 3. 

 

Known error margins and model limitations 

As with all models, there are known error margins and potential limitations which should be 
considered when interpreting the results. 

We acknowledge that where evidence does not currently exist or is weak, this does not 
necessarily equate to a potential risk factor having little or no importance. It could simply be a 
facet of a current evidence gap. The models presented are based on knowledge currently 
available at this time. We would strongly recommend that this report be read and considered in 
conjunction with the phase 1 report (see Wardle, 2015a). 

The rationale for the choice of risk factors included in the models was based on research from 
phase 1 of this study. Whilst the first phase of the study was designed to reduce limitations as 
far as possible, there were some acknowledged caveats. They included the limited evidence 
base around broader gambling-related harm and associated focus of evidence on risk factors 
for problem gambling. The models presented inherit these limitations. 

As far as possible we have used the most recent data available to model current conditions. 
However, census data are now four years old. If there has been significant neighbourhood 

14 This additional 1km offers further context for the analysis of risk within a LA, but it too is potentially subject to 
edge effects by the absence of data beyond its outer limit. To counter this, we ensure that data are included 
beyond this 1km zone to a distance that is larger than the bandwidth of the largest kernel density surface used in 
the model. 

 

56 
 

                                                           

Page 95

Agenda Annex



  

developments and change, this will not be reflected in our models, although we considered this 
possibility to be fairly unlikely. We have identified none in either of our study areas. 

We have also used the smallest area data available. Some data are only available at the LSOA 
level which gives a more general picture of local variation. However, we consider the majority 
of data to provide reasonable accuracy, scale and precision to reflect sub-neighbourhood level 
change and variation. 

The models are reliant upon data quality. This includes data provided by each LA. Some data 
have been captured from web searches. 

There are several datasets which would ideally be included in the models for which we have no 
available data source, including: 

• Problem gamblers within the resident population – there exist no direct data on 
problem gamblers at the small scale with a large enough sample size. 

• People with low IQ – these data do not exist at the small scale with a large enough 
sample size. 

• Personality traits – these data do not exist at the small scale with a large enough sample 
size. 

• Substance abuse/misuse within the resident population – these data were not available 
for this study at the small scale with a large enough sample size. 

• Debt within the resident population – these data do not exist at the small scale with a 
large enough sample size. 

• Levels of alcohol consumption within the resident population – these data do not exist 
at the small scale with a large enough sample size. 

• Financial difficulties/debt - population – these data were not available for this study by 
resident locations. 

• Immigrant groups – there is no standard data available at the small scale that is recent 
enough to be relevant. 

Despite these missing data, we are confident that the data we have included in the models 
provides a robust base to model risk of gambling-related harm.  

57 
 

Page 96

Agenda Annex



  

4 Results 

Interpreting the results 

The models show the risk of gambling-related harm at a given location. They do not show 
where problem gambling is occurring. They are a probabilistic measure of risk to gambling 
problems among the population. Each square cell (50m x 50m) for the Westminster and 
Manchester LA area has a value indicating the relative risk. These values are a measure of ‘high’ 
and ‘low’ risk relative to other places within Westminster and Manchester respectively. One 
must not fall into an ‘ecological fallacy’ when interpreting results. This would be to assume that 
every individual within an area with a high score will be at risk. Even though a certain place 
may, on average, be at higher risk, not all individuals in that space will be at risk. 

For both Westminster and Manchester, there are three maps showing three different indices: 

• the first shows the overall risk index for each area. This combines data from the ‘at 
 home’ and ‘away from home’ indices. This is called the composite index. 

• the second shows the index data based on the ‘at home’ or resident population, and  

• the final index map shows the index data based on the ‘away from home’. 

The overall composite index has a total score of between 0-100. This is calculated by adding the 
‘at home’ and ‘away from home’ indices together. On the maps shown, the higher the cell 
value, the higher the risk.  

The models use 50mx50m square cells to measure points or specific locations across the study 
area: an appropriate scale at which to interpret the results. The results do not show building-
level accuracy or variation but rather show sub-neighbourhood and in some cases sub-street 
level trends. It is recommended to consider a value or score within any one cell value within the 
context of the surrounding cells, so as not to assume a level of specificity and precision that is 
not appropriate. It is more useful to look at patterns across a neighbourhood.  

Along with reviewing the three map indices for Westminster and Manchester respectively, it is 
also useful to view the spatial patterns of each individual input datasets. This gives insight into 
what is driving higher levels of risk in specific areas – for example, is it high levels of 

58 
 

Page 97

Agenda Annex



  

unemployment or high numbers of substance abuse treatment facilities? The individual maps 
for each study area are presented in Appendix 1.15   

The results for Manchester and Westminster are now discussed in turn. 

  

15 Hospital episode statistics data have been omitted from the Appendix because of data confidentiality. 

59 
 

                                                           

Page 98

Agenda Annex



  

Manchester 

Figure 7: map of composite risk index for Manchester                                                                                                          

 

60 
 

Page 99

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 7 shows the overall composite risk index for Manchester. Risk scores vary between 0 and 60.9.16 

There are a range of areas across the Manchester borough with higher risk to gambling-related harm. 
However, there are particular concentrations in three main areas. These are: 

• The area to the north west of Levenshulme, between Rusholme and Longsight. 
• The city centre and the area around the University of Manchester, around the Oxford Road. 
• North Cheetham and Cheetham Hill. 

Looking at Figures 8 and 9 we can see that there are different drivers of risk in each area. The area in the 
City Centre, for example, appears to have greater levels of risk on the ‘away from home’ index  (Figure 9) 
whereas others have greater risk on the ‘at home’ index (Figure 8). Of course, overall risk is comprised of 
both aspects and we now discuss the prominent risk factors for each of the three case study areas. 

  

16 The bands of the scale vary as they are based on the underlying distribution of the data rather than being 
imposed by the authors (see Figure 7). 

61 
 

                                                           

Page 100

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 8: map of ‘at home’ risk index for Manchester      

  

62 
 

Page 101

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 9: map of ‘away from home’ risk index for Manchester                                                                                                          

    
    

63 
 

Page 102

Agenda Annex



  

Case study 1 -  Rusholme and Longsight 
The Rusholme/Longsight area is located in centrally within the borough of Manchester City and 
is south east of Manchester city itself. Looking at this area, it is clear that much of the risk in 
this region is derived from the characteristics of the resident population. As Figure 10 shows, 
there are high numbers of economically inactive people in this area, especially around 
Claremont and Longsight, where typically there were over 18 economically inactive people per 
output area17 (see Figure 10). This area also has high ethnic diversity, with most output areas 
having over 100 people from minority ethnic groups (see Figure 11). The age profile of this area 
is also fairly young, with some output areas having over 300 residents aged 10-24 (see Figure 
12). Mental health data did not show discernible patterns, though like all areas there were 
some local residents with mental health problems.  

In addition to the risk profile of the resident population, there are also a number of services for 
vulnerable people in this area. For example, one of Manchester’s eight foodbanks is located in 
the Rusholme/Longsight area, as are two clinics for the treatment of drug users. Three out of 
fifteen specialist homeless accommodation shelters are in this location. Finally, there are four 
educational institutions present.   

Therefore, the risk profile of this region is driven by the profile of residents in relation to their 
youth, economic activity and ethnic make-up but also to some extent by the services for 
vulnerable people offered in this area. 

  

17 Output areas typically represent an average of 309 residents, though some can be larger or smaller than this. 

64 
 

                                                           

Page 103

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 10: Number of residents unemployed (per output area) in Rusholme/Longsight  

 
  
Figure 11: Number of residents from minority ethnic groups (per output area) in 
Rusholme/Longsight  
 

  

65 
 

Page 104

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 12: Number of residents economically inactive (per output area) in 
Rusholme/Longsight  
 

 

 

Case Study 2:  City centre and University area 

This case study focuses on two areas around Manchester City of higher risk, that of the city 
centre and the area towards the south of the city, around the Oxford Road and the University 
of Manchester. As with case study 1, the risk profile in these areas is driven through a 
combination of the services offered in the locale and the resident population profile. This is 
especially the case with the area around the University. 

Looking at the resident population first, the only notable characteristic of variation for the city 
centre area is the number of minority ethnic residents, where towards the south of the city 
centre and around Chinatown there are somewhat higher numbers of people per output area. 
The profile by age, unemployment and mental health does not seem to vary significantly across 
the central city centre area. However, this is not the case for the area around the University, 
which has a very ethnically diverse resident population, with some of the highest numbers of 
residents per output area living in this region (see Figure 13). The numbers of economically 
inactive people per output area are somewhat greater in the areas surrounding the University 
though not as numerous as in other areas (see Figure 14). Perhaps unsurprisingly, the 

66 
 

Page 105

Agenda Annex



  

University has a distinctly younger age profile (see Figure 15) and, of course, has a number of 
educational institutes in this region. 

There are some facilities in these areas which serve potentially vulnerable people. These 
include a homelessness shelter around the University area, two food banks around the 
perimeter of the University area and a needle exchange. To the north of the city centre there 
are three pay day loan facilities. Notably, the city centre is home to the only Gamblers 
Anonymous/GamCare treatment facility in Manchester.  

Therefore, around the University area, the risk profile seems to be driven by the relatively 
young age profile of residents, its ethnic diversity and to some extent unemployment alongside 
some provision of services for vulnerable people. In the city centre, the risk profile is accounted 
for primarily by treatment services for problem gamblers. 

 

Figure 13: Number of residents from minority ethnic groups (per output area) in Manchester 
city centre  

c  

  

 

 

67 
 

Page 106

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 14: Number of residents unemployed (per output area) in Manchester city centre 

 

Figure 15: Number of residents aged 10-24 (per output area) in Manchester city centre 

 

 

68 
 

Page 107

Agenda Annex



  

Case Study 3:  Cheetham 

The final case study area extends from Cheetham Hill northwards and across the Manchester 
City boundary towards Broughton. Like case study 1, there is a greater degree of risk attached 
to the resident population profile in these areas. Firstly, there are relatively high numbers of 
economically inactive people in the surrounding areas (see Figure 16). These areas are also 
ethnically diverse, especially around Cheetham Hill (see Figure 17). However, the age profile 
does not seem to be disproportionately youthful compared with others. The mental health data 
available for GPs in these areas, however, suggests a high number of residents with diagnoses 
for one of the relevant mental health conditions considered (see Figure 18). These appear to be 
the primary drivers of risk in these areas. 

There are some facilities offering services to potentially vulnerable people in these areas also. 
For example, there are two facilities offering accommodation to people with substance 
abuse/misuse issues and two emergency homelessness shelters, a couple of pay day loan shops 
and one of Manchester’s eight job centres is in this location. Therefore, there are some drivers 
of risk attached to the ‘away from home’ population in this area, but the main factors appear to 
be the characteristics of local residents. 

Figure 16: Number of residents unemployed (per output area) in Cheetham area 

 

 

69 
 

Page 108

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 17: Number of residents from minority ethnic groups (per output area) in Cheetham 
area 

 

Figure 18: Number of GP patients with certain mental health conditions in Cheetham area 

  

70 
 

Page 109

Agenda Annex



  

Westminster 

Figure 19: map of composite risk index for Westminster        

 
 
 
Figure 19 shows the composite risk index for Westminster. Risk scores vary between 0 and 
72.9.18 There are four main areas of greater risk to gambling-related harm identified. These are: 

• the area around Westbourne Green towards Kensal Town in the north west of 
Westminster. 

• the area around the Edgware Road in the north central part of Westminster, 
• the area around Pimlico and Victoria to the south of Westminster, and 
• the West End and Soho. 

Looking at Figures 20 and 21, we can see that there are different drivers of risk in these areas. 
For three of these areas (the north west, Paddington and Edgware and Pimlico) the ‘at home’ 
risk index shows higher values, suggesting that the risk in these areas is driven more by the 

18 As previously, the breaks within the scales shown in Figure 20 are based on the breaks in the distribution of the 
index data. 

71 
 

                                                           

Page 110

Agenda Annex



  

local resident population. For the West End, risk is driven much more by the ‘away from home’ 
community. Of course, in each area there is some risk associated with both the ‘at home’ and 
‘away from home’ populations. Each of these four areas are discussed in turn to explore the 
specific drivers of risk in each location. 

Figure 20: map of ‘at home’ risk index for Westminster      
 

  

 

72 
 

Page 111

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 21: map of ‘away from home’ risk index for Westminster     
  

 
 

Case study 1 – the north west/Harrow Road 

This area extends north from Westbourne Green to West Kilburn to the north west boundary of 
Westminster. It therefore covers a broad area. Looking at this area, we can see that it has the 
one of the highest levels of risk associated with the ‘at home’ resident population. There are 
high numbers of unemployed people (see Figure 22) and high numbers of people from minority 
ethnic groups (see Figure 23). In fact, many output areas in this region have more than 100 
residents from minority ethnic groups and more than 20 unemployed residents per output 
area. Relative to other areas in Westminster, the north west area has somewhat greater 
numbers of young people aged 10-24 (see Figure 25) though it does not have quite so many 
educational establishments as other parts of Westminster. Finally, for the resident population, 
there appear to be high numbers of people recorded on the GP register with schizophrenia, 
bipolar affective disorder and other psychoses, and other patients on lithium therapy or with 
depression. This is especially so around the Harrow Road area, where many of the GPs (where 
data was available) had over 190 patients with these diagnoses (see Figure 24). Taken together 

73 
 

Page 112

Agenda Annex



  

this builds a picture of multiple risk factors for gambling-related harm among the residents in 
this area.  

Looking at the ‘away from home’ population, of the eight treatment and support services for 
substance abuse/misuse (not including needle exchanges) in Westminster, three are in the 
north west area, as is one of only two food banks in Westminster. There was also a high 
concentration of supported housing services in this area (12 facilities), showing higher potential 
risk among people who use these services in this area.  

The risk profile in this area is therefore driven both by the characteristics of the resident 
population and by the facilities and services that exist in this area also. 

 

Figure 22: Number of residents unemployed (per output area) in north west Westminster 

 

 

 
 
 
 

74 
 

Page 113

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 23: Number of residents from minority ethnic groups (per output area) in north west 
Westminster 

 
 
Figure 24: Number of GP patients with certain mental health conditions in north west 
Westminster 
 

 
 

75 
 

Page 114

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 25: Number of residents aged 10-24 (per output area) in north west Westminster 
 

 
 

76 
 

Page 115

Agenda Annex



  

Case study 2 – Paddington and the Edgware Road 
Looking at the Paddington/Edgware Road area, the first pattern to note is that the area of risk is 
concentrated in a smaller geographical space. Highest risk is focused in the area that extends 
north between Edgware Road and Baker Street towards Lisson Grove. 

Compared with the first case study, the risk in this area is driven primarily by four key factors: 
unemployment, ethnicity, youth and homelessness. Figure 26 shows that there are a high 
number of residents who are economically inactive in this area, typically more than 16 people 
per output area. This area also hosts only one of two job centres for Westminster. This is also 
an ethnically diverse area with more than 100 people per output area being from a minority 
ethnic groups (see Figure 27). Looking at youth, there are slightly higher numbers of young 
people (aged 10-24) resident in the area but there are five educational establishments within a 
small geographic space (see Figure 28). Five of the forty nine supported housing facilities are 
also in this small geographic area.  Data for mental health diagnosis for GPs in this area is 
sparser, though the three GP surgeries mapped suggest higher numbers of diagnosis than other 
surgeries. 

Unlike the north west, there are fewer facilities in this area which are likely to draw vulnerable 
people to these places. There are no treatment centres or drug facilities (with the exception of 
one pharmacy offering a needle exchange), there are no foodbanks and just one pay day loan 
shop on the edge of the area.  

Therefore, it seems that the key factors driving risk in this area relate to unemployment, ethnic 
make-up, young people and homelessness. 

77 
 

Page 116

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 26: Number of residents unemployed (per output area) in Paddington area 

 
 

Figure 27: Number of residents from minority ethnic groups (per output area) in Paddington 
area  

 

78 
 

Page 117

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 28: Location of educational institutions in Paddington area  

  
 

Case study 3 – The West End 

The risk areas in the West End focus on two distinct spaces, one around Soho and the other to 
the north of Oxford Street, between Goodge Street and Great Portland Street. Like the area 
around about Paddington/Edgware Road, both areas are smaller geographically than the area 
of risk in the north west.  

The risk in both areas is broadly driven by the types of services offered in each area. For 
example, three of the four locations of Gamblers Anonymous/GamCare treatment services (see 
Figure 29) are in these areas. These areas are also home to five supported housing facilities; 
these are especially concentrated in the area north of Oxford Street. There are at least three 
payday loan shops around the Soho area. To the south of the Soho area, there is a treatment 
support service for those with drugs and alcohol problems. 

There is less evidence that the risk profile is being driven by the profile of local residents, 
though the area to the north of Oxford St has some higher numbers of economically inactive 
people (with typically 15 people per output area) and those from a minority ethnic background 
(typically more than 150 people per output area) (see Figures 30 and 31). 

79 
 

Page 118

Agenda Annex



  

Interestingly, Soho did not display noticeably higher numbers of residents from minority ethnic 
groups, despite this being the location of Chinatown. Whilst the residents will be represented, 
our models do not include facilities like Chinatown to which Chinese and other minority ethnic 
workers will gravitate. In this respect, the model around Soho is likely to be a conservative 
estimate of risk. 

Figure 29: Location of GamCare treatment centres or GA meeting places in West End area 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80 
 

Page 119

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 30: Number of residents unemployed (per output area) in West End area 

 

Figure 31: Number of residents from minority ethnic groups (per output area) in West End 
area 
 

 

81 
 

Page 120

Agenda Annex



  

Case study 4 – Pimlico 

The final case study area is the area to the south of Victoria and Victoria Road, around Pimlico. 
Risk in this area is driven by a mix of factors relating to the residential population and the ‘away 
from home’ population.  

Looking at the resident population profile first, there are some areas in Pimlico which have 
greater numbers of unemployed people, though these numbers are not as high as those seen in 
the north west or Paddington (see Figure 32). Unlike the north west and Paddington, this area is 
less ethnically diverse with fewer residents from minority ethnic groups than the other case 
studies (see Figure 33). The number of young people in the area was also smaller than in the 
north west and Paddington regions. What was different, however, was that Pimlico had 
comparatively high numbers of residents with a mental health diagnosis on the GP register. For 
each of the GP surgeries with data shown, there were over 190 people with a relevant mental 
health diagnosis (see Figure 34). 

In addition to the mental health of residents, other primary drivers of risk in the Pimlico region 
were the number of supported housing projects. Figure 35 shows that there were twelve such 
projects in this area, out of forty nine in total in Westminster. There were also two centres 
offering treatment for problems with alcohol, one pay day loan shop and Pimlico is the location 
of Westminster’s second food bank. In addition, ten educational institutes were located in this 
area. 

Taking this together, risk in the Pimlico area seems to be related to the mental health of local 
residents and services for homelessness, substance abuse as well as educational facilities 
offered in the local area. 

  

82 
 

Page 121

Agenda Annex



  

Figure 32: Number of residents unemployed (per output area) in Pimlico 

 

Figure 33: Number of residents from minority ethnic groups (per output area) in Pimlico 

 

83 
 

Page 122

Agenda Annex



  

 

Figure 34: Number of GP patients with certain mental health conditions in Pimlico 

 

Figure 35: Location of Westminster Supported Housing Projects in Pimlico 

 

84 
 

Page 123

Agenda Annex



  

5 Key themes 

Policy context  

 The Gambling Act 2005 singled out vulnerable people for special regulatory attention. 
To date, very little systematic consideration has been given to the protection of 
vulnerable people when making decisions about gambling premises licences. This is 
changing. New directives from the Gambling Commission now state that both gambling 
operators and Licensing Authorities (LAs) need to consider local area risks and take steps 
to militate against harm. 
 

 This project is the first ever attempt in Britain to systematically consider who might be 
vulnerable to harm and, using this information, create a risk index so that areas of 
higher or lower potential risk can be easily identified. 
 

 For both, Westminster and Manchester, we have highlighted the areas where risk of 
harm may be greatest. This is based on the types of people who live in each area (the ‘at 
home’ model) and the types of services offered which might attract vulnerable people 
to those locations (the “away from home” model). 
 

 Our models significantly extend those that have been conducted internationally, since  
we have included a greater range of characteristics and have not relied on mapping 
indices of deprivation alone. Because specific policy directives state that demand or 
potential demand (and thus indirectly, pre-existing supply) for gambling venues should 
not be taken into account when making decisions about premises licences, our models 
do not include data on gambling venues.  

 

Variation in risk by place 

 Key findings show that risk of harm does vary from place to place. In Westminster, we 
identified four broad areas where there may be a greater risk of harm. These are those 
to the north west of Westminster, around the Harrow Road; to the south, around 
Victoria and Pimlico; north central areas around Paddington and the Edgware road and 
the West End. Careful review of the models shows that the heightened risk in each area 
is driven by different factors. For example, in Pimlico risk is higher because of a greater 

85 
 

Page 124

Agenda Annex



  

number of homelessness shelters and treatment providers in this area. In the north 
west area, risk is more driven by rates of unemployment, ethnic make-up and large 
numbers of resident young people. 
 

 In Manchester, there are more areas of higher risk and we focused on three main zones 
– those around the city centre and the south of the city; around the Wilmslow Road and 
Longsight and an area around Cheetham. Risk is the city centre is driven primarily by the 
concentration of pay-day loan shops, education establishments and support centres for 
problem gamblers who are seeking treatment. Relatively high levels of unemployment, 
high concentrations of young people as well as ethnic mix are major driving factors in 
the other locations. 

 

Benefits of approach 

 The models produced for this research draw on empirical evidence about which groups 
of people are most likely to be vulnerable to harm from gambling. Using concepts like 
the ‘harm paradox’ we identified those who are more likely to experience problems 
from their gambling participation. Therefore, all characteristics included in our models 
are theoretically and empirically valid.  
 

 Through careful consideration of how space is used, our models looked both at the 
characteristics of people who live in certain areas but also the characteristics of people 
who visit these areas at different points of the day. This allows us to represent dynamic 
movements in potential risk over time: people are not static and do move around 
locations at different points of the day. This is an important extension over previous 
international attempts to model vulnerability to harm. 
 

 Our models are more nuanced than simply modelling deprivation alone. Area level 
socio-economic deprivation has been used as a proxy to represent local area risk by 
other scholars internationally and suggested as an approach to mapping local area risks 
by some LAs. Our research shows that deprivation is not necessarily an appropriate 
proxy for risk of gambling-related harm. First, the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 
has several domains, yet the evidence about who may be vulnerable to gambling-
related harm shows that some of these domains (such as level of educational 
qualifications) do not have a strong relationship to harm. Using IMD as a proxy for risk of 
harm means some areas may be erroneously highlighted as having an at-risk resident 
population because of this unsound empirical basis. Second, IMD only looks at the 

86 
 

Page 125

Agenda Annex



  

profile of the resident population and not more transient people who move in and out 
of areas at different points of the day. We believe this is important. Finally, our results 
show that whilst there is some overlap between areas of greatest deprivation and those 
we have identified as high risk, there are some differences also. For example, the 
specific areas identified in our models as higher risk within Pimlico were actually areas 
with comparatively lower deprivations scores (relative to other neighbouring areas). A 
range of services offered to vulnerable, non-resident people drives the risk in Pimlico. 
Focus on IMD alone misses this detail.  
 

Caveats 

 Our models are probabilistic. Just because we have highlighted an area as being at 
greater risk does not mean that all people in those areas will experience harm. Our 
models suggest that there may be greater propensity for harm and therefore greater 
consideration should be given to attempts to militate this. 
 

 Our models are based on current knowledge and available evidence and data. There 
were a number of groups which were plausible to consider vulnerable (such as 
immigrants or those on probation) but there was very little empirical evidence and/or a 
lack of local level data, leading us to exclude them from the final models. Our models 
are therefore skewed towards those areas where more research has been conducted 
(reflecting the priorities of those conducting and commissioning research) and where 
there were good quality local level data available.  

 
 Our previous research highlighted that there may be people or areas with multiple risk 

factors for gambling-related harm. Our final models support this as there is a large 
degree of overlap of each component risk factor, giving higher risk scores to areas. 

  
 Finally, reflecting the focus of researchers on understanding problem gambling, the 

evidence base used to develop the models tends to show those vulnerable to gambling 
problems rather than gambling-related harm. The models therefore may be a somewhat 
conservative profile of risk as it is generally recognised that gambling-related harm is 
broader than problem gambling, affecting more people and having a broader range of 
impacts.  
 
 
 
 

87 
 

Page 126

Agenda Annex



  

Recommendations 

 The Gambling Commission’s introduction of local area risk profiles into practice and 
procedure represents a new opportunity for LAs and industry alike to think more deeply 
about the protection of vulnerable people from gambling-related harm. We would 
encourage all stakeholders to consider what this means and develop a more 
comprehensive understanding of who might be vulnerable and why. We believe this 
means extending understanding of local area risk beyond mapping areas of greater 
deprivation and considering a more nuanced range of factors, as presented in this 
research. 
  

 LAs interested in pursuing this approach should start to consider the different types of 
data they have available and how these can be used in local area profiles. 
 

 They could also start to consider what data and/or evidence is missing and how they 
could fill these gaps. For example, data collection exercises could be specifically 
designed to generate better data for the models. Westminster has already started this 
process, liaising with youth offender teams to collect information about gambling harm 
among this group. This will provide much needed evidence about vulnerability to harm 
which could then be included in the model at a later date. 
 

 As with any modelling process, there are a number of refinements and 
recommendations we can make, especially as we see these models developing in an 
iterative way. These recommendations include: 

o The inclusion of specific datasets that are currently unavailable as and when they 
become available. 

o The inclusion of data available at a better scale as and when they become 
available. 

o Consideration of multiple-risk factors for harm to understand which groups are 
the most vulnerable and where they may be. This is a big challenge due to the 
lack of specific small area data and would possibly require primary data 
collection to achieve this. 

o An incorporation of future evidence as and when the wider research body 
expands. 

o To compare study areas exactly, the standardisation of data collection between 
LAs could be recommended, though this risks losing some local nuances. 

 

88 
 

Page 127

Agenda Annex



  

 The models we have presented are based on the best information currently available. 
However, an acknowledged limitation of gambling research generally is the paucity of 
evidence available. We therefore recommend that the models developed for this 
project are periodically reviewed and updated to take into account growing knowledge, 
better data and changes in local areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

89 
 

Page 128

Agenda Annex



  

References 
Astbury, G. and Thurstain-Goodwin, M. (2015) Contextualising machine gambling characteristics by 
location. A spatial investigation of machines in bookmakers using industry data. Bath: Geofutures Ltd, 
Available at: 
http://www.responsiblegamblingtrust.org.uk/user_uploads/b2gamingmachines_finalreport_20150218.
pdf. Accessed on 10 August 2015. 

Bailey, T.C. and Gatrell, A.C. (1995) Interactive spatial data analysis. Harlow: Longman Scientific and 
Technical. 

Bracken, I. and Martin, D. (1989) The generation of spatial population distributions from census centroid 
data. Environment and Planning A, 21: 537-543. 

Bradford-Hill, A. (1965) The environment and disease: association or causation? Proceedings of the Royal 
Society of Medicine, 58: 295–300.  

Carter, B., New, C. (2004) ‘Introduction: realist social theory and empirical research’ in Carter, B., New, 
C. (eds) Making Realism Work, Oxford: Routledge. 

Culture, Media and Sport Committee (2012) The Gambling Act 2005: A bet worth taking? London: TSO. 

Cutter, S.L., Bryan, C. J. and Boruff, W.L. (2003) Social Vulnerability to Environmental Hazards. Social 
Science Quarterly, 84(20): 242-261. 

Department for Culture, Media and Sport (2001). Gambling Review Report. London: DCMS. Available at 
http://www.homepages.ucl.ac.uk/~uctyjow/Gambling/gamblingreviewcontents.pdf. Accessed on 
17.01.2016. 

Doran, B. and Young, M. (2010) Predicting the spatial distribution of gambling vulnerability: an 
application of gravity modeling using ABS Mesh Blocks. Applied Geography, 30( 1): 141-152. 

House of Commons Culture, Media and Sports Committee (2012) The Gambling Act 2005: A bet worth 
taking? Volume 1. London: The Stationary Office. 

Gambling Commission (2009) Statement of principles for licensing and regulation – September 2009. 
Birmingham: Gambling Commission. 

Gambling Commission (2012) Guidance to Licensing Authorities: 4th edition. Birmingham: Gambling 
Commission. 

Gambling Commission (2015) Westminster Speech. [Speech given project launch event, copies available 
from authors]. 

90 
 

Page 129

Agenda Annex

http://www.responsiblegamblingtrust.org.uk/user_uploads/b2gamingmachines_finalreport_20150218.pdf
http://www.responsiblegamblingtrust.org.uk/user_uploads/b2gamingmachines_finalreport_20150218.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/statement-of-principles-for-licensing-and-regulation.pdf


  

Gambling Commission (2015) Licence conditions and codes of practice. Birmingham: Gambling 
Commission. Available at: http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/Latest-LCCP-and-
Extracts/Licence-conditions-and-codes-of-practice.pdf. Accessed 22 May 2015. 

Martin, D. (1996) An assessment of surface and zonal models of population. International Journal of 
Geographical Information Systems, 10: 973-989. 

McBrayer, M. (2010) Assessing Houston’s vulnerability to childhood obesity. Available at 
http://sites.tufts.edu/gis/files/2013/02/McBrayer_Markie.pdf. Accessed on 10 August 2015. 

McHarg, I. (1969) Design with nature. New York: Wiley. 

Martin, D., Tate, N. J. and Langford, M. (2000) Redefining population surface models: experiments with 
Northern Ireland census data. Transactions in GIS, 4 (4): 343 – 360. 

Mendoza, N., Concrow, L., Baldwin-White, L. and Booth, J.M. (2013) Using GIS to describe risk and 
neighborhood- level factors associated with substance abuse treatment outcomes. Journal of 
community psychology, 41(7): 799-810.  

Openshaw, S. (1984) Modifiable Areal Unit Problem, The (Concepts and Techniques in Modern 
Geography). Norwich: Geo Books. 

Pawson, R, and Tilley, N. (1997) Realistic Evaluation. London: Sage. 

Philips, C, and Goodman, K.L. (2004) The missed lessons of Sir Austin Bradford Hill. Epidemiological 
Perspectives and Innovations. 1(1): 3. 

Responsible Gambling Strategy Board (2009) RGSB initial strategy and priorities. Birmingham: 
Responsible Gambling Strategy Board. Available at: http://www.rgsb.org.uk/publications.html. Accessed 
22 May 2015. 

Rintoul, A., Livingstone, C., Mellor, A. and Jolley, D. (2013). Modelling vulnerability to gambling related 
harm: How disadvantage predicts gambling losses. Addiction Research & Theory, 21 (4): 329-338. 

Robitaille, E. and Herjean, P. (2008) An analysis of the accessibility of video lottery terminals: the case of 
Montréal. International Journal of Health Geography, 7: 2. 

Silverman, B. W. (1986) Density Estimation for Statistics and Data Analysis. London: Chapham and Hall. 

Smith, M. J., Goodchild, M. F. and Longley, P. A. (2009) Geospatial Analysis. A Comprehensive Guide to 
Principles, Techniques and Software Tools - 3th Edition. Leicester: Troubador. 

Thurstain-Goodwin, M. and Unwin, D. (2000) Defining and delineating the central areas of towns for 
statistical monitoring using continuous surface representations. Transactions in GIS, 4 (4): 305 – 317. 

Wardle, H., Keily, R., Astbury, G. and Reith, G. (2014) Risky Places? Mapping Gambling Machine Density 
and Socio-Economic Deprivation. Journal of Gambling Studies, 30 (1): 201-212. 

91 
 

Page 130

Agenda Annex

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/Latest-LCCP-and-Extracts/Licence-conditions-and-codes-of-practice.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/Latest-LCCP-and-Extracts/Licence-conditions-and-codes-of-practice.pdf
http://sites.tufts.edu/gis/files/2013/02/McBrayer_Markie.pdf
http://www.rgsb.org.uk/publications.html


  

Wardle, H. (2015a) Exploring area-based vulnerability to gambling-related harm: Who is vulnerable? 
Findings from a quick scoping review. Geofutures Ltd, Bath. Available at: 
http://transact.westminster.gov.uk/docstores/publications_store/licensing/final_phase1_exploring_are
a-
based_vulnerability_and_gambling_related_harm_report_v2.pdf.%20%20Accessed%2010%20August%2
02015  Accessed on 21 August 2015. 

Wardle, H. (2015b) Female gambling behaviour: a case study of realist description. University of 
Glasgow: Glasgow.

92 
 

Page 131

Agenda Annex

http://transact.westminster.gov.uk/docstores/publications_store/licensing/final_phase1_exploring_area-based_vulnerability_and_gambling_related_harm_report_v2.pdf.%20%20Accessed%2010%20August%202015
http://transact.westminster.gov.uk/docstores/publications_store/licensing/final_phase1_exploring_area-based_vulnerability_and_gambling_related_harm_report_v2.pdf.%20%20Accessed%2010%20August%202015
http://transact.westminster.gov.uk/docstores/publications_store/licensing/final_phase1_exploring_area-based_vulnerability_and_gambling_related_harm_report_v2.pdf.%20%20Accessed%2010%20August%202015
http://transact.westminster.gov.uk/docstores/publications_store/licensing/final_phase1_exploring_area-based_vulnerability_and_gambling_related_harm_report_v2.pdf.%20%20Accessed%2010%20August%202015


  

Appendix 1 
Figure A1: Map showing characteristic data of treatment & support centres for problem gamblers in Manchester

   
   

93 
 

Page 132

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A2: Map showing characteristic data of substance abuse/misuse in Manchester 

 
94 

 

Page 133

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A3: Map showing characteristic data of poor mental health in Manchester 

 

95 
 

Page 134

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A4: Map showing characteristic data of unemployment in Manchester 

 
96 

 

Page 135

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A5: Map showing characteristic data of unemployment in Manchester 

 
97 

 

Page 136

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A6: Map showing characteristic data of ethnic groups in Manchester 

 

98 
 

Page 137

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A7: Map showing characteristic data of youth in Manchester 

 

99 
 

Page 138

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A8: Map showing characteristic data of educational institutions in Manchester 

 

100 
 

Page 139

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A9: Map showing characteristic data of financial difficulties/debt in Manchester 

 

101 
 

Page 140

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A10: Map showing characteristic data of homelessness in Manchester 

 

102 
 

Page 141

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A11: Map showing characteristic data of treatment & support centes for problem gamblers in Westminster 

 

Figure A12: Map showing characteristic data of substance abuse/misuse in Westminster 

 

103 
 

Page 142

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A13: Map showing characteristic data of poor mental health in Westminster 

 

Figure A14: Map showing characteristic data of unemployment in Westminster 

 
104 

 

Page 143

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A15: Map showing characteristic data of unemployment in Westminster 

 

Figure A16: Map showing characteristic data of ethnic groups in Westminster 

 
105 

 

Page 144

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A17: Map showing characteristic data of youth in Westminster 

 

Figure A18: Map showing characteristic data of education institutions in Westminster 

 
106 

 

Page 145

Agenda Annex



  
Figure A19: Map showing characteristic data of financial difficulties/debt in Westminster 

 

Figure A20: Map showing characteristic data of homelessness in Westminster 

107 
 

Page 146

Agenda Annex



  
 

 © Geofutures Ltd 2016 

 

This document is commercial and in confidence. Not to 
be reproduced in whole or part without prior permission 
of Geofutures Ltd ("Geofutures"). This document is 
intended only for use by the client for whom it has been 
prepared. Geofutures shall not in any circumstances be 
liable in any way whatsoever to any other person for any 
loss or damage arising in any way as a result of reliance 
on this document. 

Geofutures warrants that all reasonable skill and care 
have been used in the preparation of this document. 
Beyond this, Geofutures shall not be liable for any loss or 
damage (including consequential loss) sustained by the 
client or his/her agents arising in any way, whether 
directly or indirectly, as a result of reliance on this 
information. Geofutures makes no warranty, express or 
implied, as to the accuracy of any data compiled by any 
other person and used by Geofutures in preparing this 
document. Geofutures makes no warranty, express or 
implied, as to any projections contained in this 
document which are necessarily of a subjective nature 
and subject to uncertainty and which constitute only 
Geofutures' opinion as to likely future trends or events 
based on information known to Geofutures at the date 
of this document. 

 

 

 

For further information  
please contact: 

 

Mark Thurstain-Goodwin 
Managing Director 
Geofutures Limited 
39 Powlett Road 
Bath  
BA2 6QL 

Tel: 01225 222382 

Email: mtg@geofutures.com 
www.geofutures.com 

  

 

  

108 
 

Page 147

Agenda Annex



Page 148

Agenda Annex





LGA location map
Local Government Association 
Local Government House

Smith Square

London SW1P 3HZ 

Tel: 020 7664 3131 

Fax: 020 7664 3030 

Email: info@local.gov.uk   

Website: www.local.gov.uk

Public transport 
Local Government House is well 

served by public transport. The 

nearest mainline stations are: 

Victoria and Waterloo: the local 

underground stations are  

St James’s Park (Circle and 

District Lines), Westminster 
(Circle, District and Jubilee Lines), 

and Pimlico (Victoria Line) - all 

about 10 minutes walk away.  

Buses 3 and 87 travel along 

Millbank, and the 507 between 

Victoria and Waterloo stops in 

Horseferry Road close to Dean 

Bradley Street. 

Bus routes – Horseferry Road 
507  Waterloo - Victoria 

C10 Canada Water - Pimlico - 

Victoria 

88  Camden Town - Whitehall 

- Westminster - Pimlico - 

Clapham Common

Bus routes – Millbank 
87  Wandsworth - Aldwych

3  Crystal Palace - Brixton -  

 Oxford Circus 

For further information, visit the 

Transport for London website  

at �����������	


Cycling facilities 
The nearest Barclays cycle hire 

racks are in Smith Square. Cycle 

racks are also available at  

Local Government House.  

Please telephone the LGA  

on 020 7664 3131. 

Central London Congestion 
Charging Zone  
Local Government House is 

located within the congestion 

charging zone. 

For further details, please call 

0845 900 1234 or visit the website 

at www.cclondon.com 

Car parks 
Abingdon Street Car Park (off

Great College Street)

Horseferry Road Car Park  

Horseferry Road/Arneway  

Street. Visit the website at  

��������
�����������	
����
���

Strutton G
round

H
orseferry 

Road

Great College St

Broad Sanctuary

Broadway

Bro
ad

way
Local 
Government 
House

M
illbank

rutton G
round

H
orseferry 

Road

Broad Sanctuaryuary

tto

Great College St
eat C ge S

10 minute 
walking  
distance

5 minute 
walking  
distance

P
age 149


	Agenda
	2 Westminster / Manchester / Geofutures gambling research project - overview and outcomes
	3 Managing the Evening and Night-time Economy
	4 Queen's Speech/Legislative update paper
	5 Improving the community safety response from councils
	6 End of Year Report 2016
	7 Update paper
	8 Notes of previous meeting
	 Appendix A
	Phase 2 report cover
	Phase 2 report final version without front or rear covers
	Contents
	Executive Summary
	1 Introduction
	Overview of project
	Policy context
	Increased focus on risk regulation
	Local risk assessments
	Partnership working
	Devolvement of public health to LAs
	Contribution of our project to this policy environment


	2 Developing the risk index models: theoretical basis
	Overview
	Methods
	Consultation interviews
	Quick scoping reviews

	Definitions
	Gambling-related harm
	Vulnerable people/vulnerable to gambling-related harm
	Evidence and risk

	Who is vulnerable? Findings from phase 1
	Stakeholder perceptions
	Who is vulnerable? Findings from the scoping reviews
	Characteristics of vulnerability included in the risk models


	3 Developing the risk index models: modelling and spatial analysis
	Introduction to vulnerability/risk index models
	Our modelling approach
	Overview
	Characteristics included in the models

	Datasets
	Selecting datasets

	Datasets used
	Spatial analysis techniques
	Raster overlay analysis and tree-based models
	Modelling factors and equations used
	Weighting
	Why weight?
	Weighting scheme used in the models

	Study area comparisons
	Input dataset modelling
	Surface representations
	Kernel Density Estimations (KDE)
	KDE parameters
	Local Authority boundary edge effects


	Known error margins and model limitations

	4 Results
	Interpreting the results
	Manchester
	Westminster

	5 Key themes
	Policy context
	Variation in risk by place
	Benefits of approach
	Caveats
	Recommendations

	References
	Appendix 1


	 

